Avon Rubber p.l.c.
Company Number 32965

Directors’ Report
for the year ended 30 September 2006

1 The Directors submit the ene hundred and sixteenth
annual report and cudited financial statements of the
Company and Group for the year ended 30 September 2006.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Directors have decided to provide further information
about the Group and its businesses in an Operating and
Financial Review (OFR} format, although the legal
requirement to produce an OFR under the Companies Act
1985 (The Operating and Financial Review and Directors’
Report etc.) Regulations 2005 was repecled on 12 January,
2006. The principal objecfives of the OFR are to assist
stakeholders in assessing the strategies adopted by the
Company and the potential for those strategies o succeed.

The Accounting Standards Board {ASB) has produced a
reporting statement in refation to OFRs and, whilst the
Company has taken into account the requirements of the
reporting statement, the Directors have not drafted the
OFR with a view to it being fully compliant with the
reporting statement.

The OFR has been prepared for the Group as a whole and
therefore gives greater emphasis to those matters that are
significant to Avon Rubber p.l.c. and its subsidiaries when
viewed as a whole. If should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto on
pages 22 to 52.

The principal octivities of the Group are the design and
manufacture of:

a Components for the automotive industry {until complefion
of the disposal of Aven Automotive on 11 August 2006).

u Respiratory profection products for defence, police, fire
and other emergency services and a range of polymer based
products for @ variety of markets including dairy, defence,
business machines and the aerosol industry.

The business review, including commentary on future
developments, is covered on pages 2 to 8.

2 RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group loss for the year affer faxation amounts to
£19,127,000 {2005: £5,046,000 loss). Fult details are set
aut in the income statement on page 22.

An interim dividend of 3.7p per share (2005: 3.7p} was paid
on 3 July 2006.

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 4.8p per share
(2005: 4.8p} making a total of 8.5p per share tor the year to
30 Sepfember 2006 (2005: 8.5p}.

The total distribution of dividends for the year to

30 September 2006 is £2,331,000 (2005: £2,294,000).

3 DIRECTORS
The names of the Directors as at 19 December 2006 are set
out on poge 9.

None of the Directors have o beneficial interest in any
contradt to which the parent company or any subsidiary was
a party during the year. Beneficial interests of Directors,
their fomilies and trusts in ordinary shares of the Company
can be found on page 17.

As announced to shareholders on 14 Decermber 2006,

Mr. T.C Bonner will refire as Chairman of the Board af
midnight on 25 January 2007. Mr. Bonner will be sueceeded
as Chairman by Sir Richard Needharm whao will commence his
appointment on 26 January 2007. The Board is satistied that
Sir Richard Needhom will meet the test of independence as set
aut in the Combined Code, an his appointment. The Board is
also satisfied that Mr. B. Duckwerth and Mrs, 5.). Firie are
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independent Non-Executive Directors. As disclosed in last
year's report, Mr. G.TE. Priestley resigned as a Director with
effect from the conclusion of the 2006 annual general
meeting. '

Mr. B. Duckworth, Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director, retires by rotation and being eligible,
offers himseH for re-election.

As part of the Board’s annual evaluation process, each
Director undertaok a performance evaluation which included
considering the effective contribution of Board members.
The Board confirms that Mr. B. Duckwarth, who stands for
re-election has contributed substantially to the performance
of the Board and its committees. The Chairman gives his full
support fo Mr. Duckworth's offer of re-election and draws
the attention of shareholders to his profile on page 9.

All Executive Directors’ service contracts with the Company
require one year's notice of termination, subject to
refirement, currently at age 60.

None of the Executive Directors is currently oppointed as a
non-executive directar of any limited company outside the
Group.

The Company has arranged an appropriate Directors ond
Officers insurance policy o provide cover in respect of legal
action against its Directors.

4 SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
At 8 December 2006, the following shareholders held 3% or
more of the Company's issved ordinary share capital:-

Schroder Investment Management Limited 15.76%
Aberdeen Asset Management Limited 8.08%
Howson Tattershail Invest Cauncil 6.51%
Platinum Fund Managers Limited 5.52%
M&G Investment Management Limited 4.53%
Cavendish Asset Management Limited 4.45%
Henderson Global Investors Limited 3.84%

5 ACQUISITION OF OWN SHARES

No share purchases were made or funded by the Company
during the year. As at 8 December 2006 the Employee Share
Ownership Trust held 666,190 shores which represents
2.36% of the current issued share capitol. As approved af the
last annual general meeting the Company has authority to
purchase up to 4,216,241 shares subject to certain terms
and conditions.

6 POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

No poliical contributions were made during the year.
Contributions for charitable purposes amounted to £22,787
{2005: £26,000) consisting exclusively of numerous small
donations to charities including the Wilkshire Scout Council
and various schoal and hospital charities in Michigan.

7 CREDITOR PAYMENT POLICY

Operating businesses are responsible for agreeing the terms
and conditions under which business transactions with their
suppliers are conducted. It is Group policy that payments are
made in accordance with these terms, provided that the
supplier is also complying with ali relevant terms and
conditions.

For the year ended 30 September 2006, the number of days
purchases outstanding at the end of the financial year for the
Group wos 50 days {2005: 63 days) based on the rafio ot
trade creditors at the end of the year to the amounts invoiced
during the year by trade creditors. On the same basis the
number of days purchases outstanding for the parent
company wos 53 days (2005: 29 days}.
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2 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group continues to utilise its materials expertise to
further advance its praducts and remain at the farefront of
technology in the field of polymer technology and materials
engineering. The Group maintains its links to key Universities
and continues to work with new and existing customers and
suppliers to develop its knowledge and product range. As a
result of these activities Avon continues to be recognised as
a world leader in the understanding of the use of polymer
predudts in its markets.

The Group will use the opportunity presented by the disposal
of Avon Automotive to focus its development resources in the
core product areas.

9 EMPLOYEES

Our employees are fundamental to the growth and success
of our business. An objective of the Group is to attract, refoin
and develop high performing employees who can tacilitate
and participate in the Group's pursuit of its strategic aims
and add value fo the business and to our stakeholders. The
Group performance management process links managers’
remuneration to achievement of o range of performance
targets. The Group seeks to encourage employee
consultation, communication and involvement and to
promote the development of employees potential through
relevant training.

The Group applies policies and procedures which are
intended fo further diversity in our workforce and ensure that
no employee is disadvantaged as a result of discrimination
including on grounds of sex, race, religion, disability or age.

10 ENVIRONMENT

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of its
operations on the environment. Prior to the disposal of the
Automative husiness in August 2006, all Automative
operating sites were certified to environmental management
systemns standard ISO 14001. In addition, the Profection and
Engineered Products site ot Hampton Park West, Wiltshire
and the Mixing facility at Westbury, Wiltshire are also certified
fo such standard. Qur Protection, Dairy and Engineered
Fabricafions operations in North America operate in
compliance with applicable State requirements and are
working towards ISO 14001 compliance. The Group
encourages inifiatives to maximise efficiency, minimise waste
and promote recycling. For example, the volume of uncured
rubber waste from our Hampton Park West facility sent to
licensed landfill, has, since July 2005, reduced by two thirds
ond is now recycled by incorporation within other products.

11 HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Board recognises the importance of health and safety to
the business. Not only does a safe working environment
contribute to employee well being, the prevention ot
personal injury contributes to the running of an efficient
business. The Group's stated policy in this orea is that
management practices and employse work acfivity will, so far
as is reasonably practicable, ensure the health, safety and
welfare at work of its employees, contractors and visitors,
together with the health and safety of all other persons
affected by the business octivities of the Group's operations.

All of the Group’s businesses mainfain health and safety
systems that are both compliant with Group policy and
appropriate fo the business, with the overall obiective of
providing a safe and healthy working environment.

In terms of performance indicators, at the Hampton Park
West facility, accidents involving one shift or more absence,
decreased by 27% compared to last yeor. The site’s stated
agim is the complete integration of its heaith and safefy
management systems so that it is OHSAS 18001 compliant
by the end ot 2006. The site has also committed to the UK
rubber industry’s latest five year action plan on heolth and
safety entitled, “Rubbing out Risks”. In the US, at 15i there is
a leaming programme to educate employees on safe
working practices and how to avaid injury. At Avon
Engineered Fabrications in Mississippi accident rates are
down by 22% from last year. None of the Group's facilities
have experienced @ serious workplace injuty in the last year.

12 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Directars acknowledge the impertance of corporate
social and ethical responsibifity in the Group's adtivities and
understand the growing emphasis placed on such canduct in
the regulatory environment applying to UK companies. Aside
from promoting initiatives around lean manutacturing and
the reduction in levels of waste and energy use, the Group's
stated policy is to direct management practices to:

» Gaood communication and integrity in our dealings with the
communities in which we operate;

w Fostering greater understanding between the Group’s
businesses and the communities in which they operate; and

u Encouraging employees to participate {where appropriate)
in the affairs of the community and professional bodies.

In the UK the Group maintains a fund with the Community
Foundation for Wiltshire ond Swindon, a charity dedicated to
strengthening local communities. The Group Director of
Human Resources is a trustee of the Foundation, which
targets its grants to make a genuine difference to the lives ot
Jocal people. This year Avon's fund provided a gront to the
West Wiltshire Porfage Service which supports development
education to children with severe leaming disabilifies. In the
US, the businesses oll take an active part in their local
Chambers of Commerce and continue to seek to enhance
their partnerships with the local community through employee
invalvement in local charities and business groups.

13 AUDITORS
Each Director confirms that on the date that this report was
approved:

= so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware;

» they have taken oll the steps they ought to have taken as a
Director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company’s
auditors are aware of that infarmation.

A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP s
auditors fo the Company will be proposed at the annual

general meeting.

By order of the Board

P). Fairbaimn, Secretary
Melksham, Wiltshire
19 December 2006
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Avon Rubber p..c.

Corporate Governance
Statement of compliance with the Combined Code

The Company believes in high standards of corporate governance
and the Board is accountable to shareholders for the Group's
performance in this area. This statement describes how the Group
is applying the relevant principles of governance, as set out in the
Combined Cade of Corporate Govemance dated July 2003 {“the
Code”) which is available on the website of the Financial Reporting
Coungil ('FRC").

The Code was further revised by the FRC in June 2006 (the
“Revised Code”) but the Listing Rules are not expected to require
the application of the Revised Code until 2007. However,
companies are being encouraged by the FRC to adopt the Revised
Code voluntarily for accounting years commencing on or after

T November 2006. The Company intends to apply the Revised
Code on a voluntary basis for the financial year commencing

1 October 2006.

The Company is a “smaller company” for the purposes of the Code
and in consequence cerfain provisions of the Code either do not
apply to the Company or may be judged to be disproportionate or
less relevant in its case.

The Company has complied throughout the yeor with the applicable
provisions of the Combined Code ofher than as explained in this
report.

This statement wili address separately three main subject areas of
the Code namely the Board, Relatians with Shareholders and
Accountability and Audit. Directors’ remuneration is dealt with in
the Remuneration Report on pages 14 o 19.

The Board confirms that it has been applying the procedures
necessary to implement the “Internal Control: Guidance for
Directors an the Combined Code” {"the Turnbull Report”).

1 THE BOARD

The Board of Aven Rubber p..c. currently comprises a Chaieman,
two independent Non-Executive Directors (“the Non-Executive
Directors”}, and two Executive Directors who are the Chiet Executive
and the Finance Diredior. All Directors submit themselves for re-
alection at regular intervals of not more than three years and are
subject to re-election at their first Annual General Meeting after
appointment. Additionally, the Non-Executive Directors are
appointed by the Board for specific terms and reappointment is not
automatic. Non-Executive Directors submit themselves for annual re-
election if they have served for more than 9 years since first election.

As announced to shareholders, the Board has approved the
appointment of Sir Richard Needham for the position of Chairman
of the Company following the retirement of Me. T.C. Banner on
25 January 2007

Biographies of the directors appear on page 9. These illustrate the
range of business and financial experience which the Board is able
to call upon. The intention of the Baard is that its membership
should be well bolanced between execufives and non-executives
and have the appropriate skills and experience. The special position
and role of the Chairman under the Code is recognised by the
Board and a written stafement of the division of responsibilities of
the Chairman and Chief Executive has been agreed by the Boord.
The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board and the
Chief Executive manages the Group and has the prime role, with
the assistance of the full Board, in developing and implementing
business strategy.

One of the roles of the Non-Executive Directors under the leadership
of the Chairman is fo undertake detailed examination and discussion
of strategies proposed by the Executive Directors, so as to ensure that
decisions are in the best long-term irterests of shareholders and take
proper account of the inferests of the Group's other stakeholders. The
Board has agreed a procedure for meefings of the Non-Executive
Directors with and without the Chairman.

An annual performance evaluation was undertaken by the Board in
2006. The Chairman acted as the sponsor of the evaluation process
and each Director was required to score a questionnaire for review
by the Board and opproprigte Committees. The Group Director of
Human Resources acted as facilitator to the Board and issues arising
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from the process were incorporated into the Board’s business as
appropriate. Within the evaluation exercise, the Board considered a
range of issues including Board fraining needs anolysis, the
assessmert of social and environmental implications within the
decision making process and improvements to the risk management
process.

The Non-Executive Directors fully review the Group's operational
performance and the Board as a whole has, with o view to reinforcing
its oversight and control, reserved a list of powers solely to itselt which
are not fo be delegated fo management. This fist is regularfy reviewed
and updated and includes appropriate srategic, financial,
organisational and compliance issues embracing; approval of high
level announcements, circulars and the report and accounts, strategy
ond monagement issues. Examples include, the approval of the
annual operating budget and the three year plan, fEne extension of the
Group's adtivities into new business and geographic areas (or their
cessation), changes to the corporate or capifal strucfure, financial
issues, including changes in accounting policy, the approval of
dividends and bank facilities and guarantees, changes ta the
constitution of the Baard, approval of significant contracts, for
example the acquisition or disposal of assets worth more than, or

the exposure of the Company fo a risk greater than £1 million.

All Directors have fult and timely access fo oll relevant information
and the Board meets regularly with appropriate contact between
meetings. All Directors receive an induction on joining the Board.
When appointed, Nan-Executive Directors are made aware of and
acknowledge their ability to meet the time commifments necessary fo
fulfilt their Boord and Committee duties. Procedures are in place,
which have been agreed by the Board, for Directars, where
necessary in the furtherance of their dufies, to toke independent
professional advice at the Company‘s expense and all Directors
have access to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary is
responsible to the Board far ensuring that all Boeard procedures are
complied with. The removal of the Secretary is a decision for the
Board as a whole.

Of particular importance in a governance context are three
committess of the Board, namely the Remuneration Committee, the
Nominations Committee and the Audit Committee. The members of
the Committees comprise the Chairman and all the Non-Executive
Directors. Notwithstanding the restrictions contoined in the Code on
the constitufion of the Audit and Remuneration Committees, the Non-
Executive Directors have expressed @ strong wish that the Chairman
should remain a member of each of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees, The Non-Executive Directors regard the Chairman as
adding significart value to the deliberations of these Committees.
Furthermare, the Chairman’s membership of the Remuneration
Committee accords with the proposals on Remuneration Committes
membership set out in the Revised Code. As disclosed in the last
report Mrs. 5.J. Pirie succeeded Mr. T.C. Bonner as Chairman of the
Audit Committee on 1 January 2006, The Board is safisfied that Mrs.
Pirie has recent refevant financial experience and her profile appears
on page 9. Mr. Banner will, until his refirement, continue fo chair the
Nominations Committee and Mr. B. Duckworth, who succeeded

M. G.TE. Priestley as Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

on Mr, Priestiey’s refirement on 19 January 2006, is Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Commitiee’s principal responsibiliies ore to
decide on remuneration policy on behalf of the Board and to
determine remuneration packages and other terms and condftions
of employment, including appropriate performance related benefits,
for Executive Directors and other senior executives. The Chief
Executive and the Group Director of Human Resources attend
meetings of the Committee by invitation, but are absent when issues
relating to each of thern are discussed.

The Norminations Commities, to which the Chief Executive is nommally
invited, reviews the Boord structure, identifies candidates to fil vacancies
on the Board and addresses board level succession planning.

In identifying pofential candidates for posifions as non-execufive
diredtors, the Committee: has full regard to the principles of the Code
regarding the independence of non-executive directors.




The Audit Committee mests ot least three times o year. The mestings
are also attended by representatives of the Group's external auditers
and the Executive Directors. At ali meefings fime is allowed for the
Audit Committee fo discuss issues with the external auditars with no
Executive Directors present. As well as reviewing draft preliminary
and inferim statements, the Committee reviews significant financial
reporting judgements contained in formal announcements by the
Company. The Committee also considers external and internal audit
reports and monitors all services provided by, and fees poyable o,
the external quditors fo ensure that potential carflicts

of interest are considered and that an objedtive and professional
relationship is maintained. As part of its work, and in line with its
terms of reference, the Committee particularly considers the
discharge of the Board's responsibilities in the areas of corporate
govemance, financial reporting and internal contral, including the
internal management of risk, as identified in the Turnbull Report.

The Committee reviews and monitors the independence and
obiedtivity of the extemal auditors and the effecfiveness of the audit
process. The Committee also keeps under review the nature,

extent, objectivity and cost of non-audit services provided by the
external auditors.

Maeetings during year ended 30 September 2006

Full Audit Nominations Remunegration
Board  C i Ci it Ci it

Total number of meetings in 12 months

to 30/9/06 16 3 2 5
T.C. Bonner 16 2 2 5
G.TE. Friesiley 2 1 - 1 Resigned 19 Jon 2006
B. Duckwerth 14 3 2 5
S.). Pirie 15 3 p 5
TK.P Stead 16 *3 *2 *5
BC Slobbert 14 *3 - -

* Arendance by invitation.

Copies of the terms of reference of the Nominations, Remuneration
and Audit Committees and the terms and condifions of
appointment of the Non-Executive Directors are available on the
Company's website or from the Company Secrefary on request.

2 RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Directors regard caommunications with shareholders as
exiremely important. In terms of published materials the Company
issues a detailed annual report and accourts and, at the he year,
an irterim report. Dialogue takes place regularly with institutional
shareholders and general presentations are given following the
prefiminary and inferim results. Shareholders have the opportunity to
ask guestions at the annuat general meefing and also have the
opportunily fo leave written guesfions for the responses of the
Directors. The Directors meet informally with shareholders after the
annual general meeting and respond 1¥lf0Ugh0Uf the yeor to
comespondence from individual shareholders on a wide range of
issues. Annual general meetings provide o venue far the
sharehalders to meet new Non-Executive Directors in addition to
any other meetings shareholders may request.

The Non-Executive Direciors, having considered the Code with
regard to relations with shareholders, are of the view that it is most
appropriote for the shareholders to have regulor dialogue with the
Executive Directors. However, shauld sharehalders have concerns,
which they feel cannot be resolved through nomal shareholder
meetings, the Chairman, Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director and the Non-Executive Director may be contacted upon
request through the Company Secretary.

A the annua! general meeting on 25 January 2007, the Board will
be following the recommendations in the Revised Code regording
the construdtive use of annual general meetings; in particular, the
agenda will again include o presentation by the Chief Executive on
aspects of the Group's business.

3  ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Combined Code requires that Directors review the effectiveness
of the Group’s system of infernal controls. The scope of this review
covers all contrals including financial, operafional and compliance
controls as well as risk management. As indicated earlier, the Board
has put in place the procedures necessary to implement the
guidance contained within the Turnbull Report on internal cortrol
and the Audit Committee has responsibility to review, monitor and
make policy and recommendations to the Board upon all such
mafters.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group’s
system of intemal control. The Board keeps this system under
continuous review and formally considers its content and its
gffectiveness on an annual basis. Such a system can provide only
reasonable, and rot absolute, assurance against material
misstatements ar losses. The tollowing paragraphs describe
relevant key procedures within the Group's systems of internal
control and the process by which the Directors have reviewed
their eftectiveness.

u  Systems exist throughout the Group which provide for the
creation of three year plans and annual budgets; monthly reports
enable the Board to compare performance against budget and to
take action where appropriate.

m Prior o completion of the sale of the Automotive division in
August 2006 an intemal audit function was in ploce with staff
covering the Group's worldwide operations from a base in the UK.
Following review by the Audit Committee and discussion with the
external quditor, the Committes has agreed that an internal qudit
pracess will be undertaken by appropriate members of the finance
team who will invesfigate specific risks identified by the Risk
Management Steering Group. This process will be reviewed by the
Board and monitared by the Audit Committee.

m Procedures are in place to identify any major business risks and
to evaluate their patential impact on the Group. These risks are
described within the operating and financial review. The Board
carries out an annual review of the key risks facing the Group. In
the year under review, the risk assessments carried out both at
business level and ot main board tevel continued to be reviewed
and strengthened as part of the Board’s ongoing response to the
guidance contained within the Tumbull Report.

= A Risk Management Steering Group is in place which includes
in its membership one Executive Director. lis remit is to apply an
“Enterprise Risk Management’ approach to the Group's analysis of
risk to ensure that risks identified by the Board or by the business
units are being assessed effectively and anolysed and that actions
are introduced fo elimingte, minimise, control or transfer the risk {or
the effect thereaf) as appropriate.

a Thereis a clearly defined delegation of authority from the
Board to the business units, with appropriate reporting lines to
individual Executive Directors.

u There are procedures for the authorisation of capital
expenditure and investment, tagether with procedures for post-
completion appraisal.

s Infernal controls are in existence which provide reasonable
assurance of the maintenance of proper accounting records and
the reliability of finoncial information used within the business or
for publication.

s The Board has issued o Policy and Code on Business Conduct
which reinforces the imporiance of the infemal control framework
within the Group. The Policy and Code includes a whistie-blowing

rocedure whereby individuals may raise concerns in matters of
ﬁnonciul reparting or other matters directly with the Audit
Committee which will ensure independent investigation and follow
up action. The Policy and Code is reviewed annually.

= Although the Board itself retains the ultimate power and
authority in relation to decision making, the Audit Committee meets
af least three times a year with management and external auditors
fo review specific accounting, reporting and financial control
matters. This Committee also reviews the inferim, prefiminary and
annual statements and has primary responsibility for making o
recommendation on the appoiniment, reappaintment and removal
of external auditors.

4 GOING CONCERN

After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have, ot the time
of approving the financial statements, formed a judgement that
there is a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group
have adequate resources fo continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. For this reason, the Direclors confinue fo
adopt the going concem basis in preparing the financial statements.
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Avon Rubber p.l.c.

Remunerction Report Company Number 32965

for the year ended 30 September 2006

Paet 1 of this Report sets out the Company's remuneration policies for the Directors for the year ended 30 September 2006.
These policies are likely to continue to apply in future years, unless there are specific reasons for change, in which case
shareholders will be informed appropriotely. Part 2 sets out audited details of the remuneration received by Directors during the
year ended 30 September 2006.

PART 1. REMUNERATION POLICIES (NOT SUBJECT TO AUDIT)
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Remuneration Commiftee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for developing the remuneration policy for the Executive Directars and for
determining their individual packages and terms of senvice. In establishing this policy, and to ensure consistency with the
arrangements for other management levels, the Remuneration Committee has regard to pay and conditions throughout the Group
and is alsa responsible for the remuneration packages of key senior executives. The Committee’s terms of reference are available
on the Company's website and on request from the Company Secretary.

The Committes met five fimes during the year and currently comprises Mr. B. Duckworth {Chairman), Mr. T.C. Bonner, and

Mrs. S J Pirie. As disclosed in last year's report, Mr. Priestley refired from the Board at the conclusion of the Annual General
Meeting on 19 January 2006 and was replaced as Chairman of the Committee by Mr. B. Duckworth. The Chiet Executive,

Mr. TKP Stead and the Group Director of Human Resources, Me. 5.D. Wright, are invited to attend meetings except when matters
relating to their own remuneration arrangements are discussed. The Committee also uses external independent professional
advisers. Tawers Perrin are the Committee’s remuneration consultants and provide advice primarily on competitive market levels
and on the performarice-related elements of the Executive Directors’ remuneration. Towers Perrin also provide administration
services to the Company’s employee share trust. The Company has appointed KPMG as its independent actuarial advisors on
pension matters and KPMG will provide the Committee with intormation on executive pension arrangements when required.
Linkleters and TLT, the Company’s appointed legal advisers, provide legal advice when required. New Bridge Street Consultants
provide performance monitoring data for review by the Committee in relation to the Performance Share Plan {see below).

Guiding Policy

The Remuneration Committee’s aim is to ensure that the structure of the Executive Directors’ remuneration supports the
achievement of the Company’s perfarmance objectives and, in turn, increases shareholder value. The Remuneration Commiftee
reviews executive remuneration arrangements regularly to ensure that they remain effective, competitive and appropriate to the
Group's circumstances and prospects, and monitors incentive award levels and consequent company liabilities.

The Company’s guiding policy on Executive Directors’ remuneration is that:

a the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages should take inta account the linkage between pay and performance by both
rewarding effective management and by making the enhancement of shareholder value a crifical success factor in the sefting of
incentives, both in the short and the long term; ond

u the overall level of salary, incentives, pension and other benefits should be competifive when compared with other
manufacturing companies of a similar size and globat spread.

Remuneration Elements

The Executive Directors’ remuneration comptises four elements: annual satary; short-term bonus; longer-term performance shares
and other benefits (including pension). In line with the Company’s emphasis on performance-related pay, bonus payments are
dependent on the Company’s annual financial performance, while the receipt of performance shares is dependent on enhanced
relative refurns to shareholders over a three-year period. The arrangements are similar for other senior executive team members.
The following fable illustrates the proportion of variable pay to base salary for the Chief Execufive and the Finance Director for
2006/7, assuming target or moximum performance related pay.

CEO Torper I B R, oo
0 woinwn R A D, . o
; oo R N S
Finance Director Targe W Pedormance
francs i i S ER AR o
r 1 T 1

T T
o% 20% 40% 0% 80% 100%

Proportion of Performance Related Pay to Salary

Sala ‘

In setrt)i(ng salary levels, the Remuneration Committee considers the experience and responsibility of the Executive Directors and
their personal performance during the previous year. The Committes also takes account of salary levels within other companies of
a similar size and global spread, as well as the rates of increases for other employees within the Company. The Remuneration
Commitiee reviews salaries with effect from January each year.

The annual base salary as ot 30 September 2006 for Mr. TK.P Stead is £215,000 and for Mr. FC. Slabbert is £128,000.




Annual Bonus

The Executive Directors” annuat honus arrangements are focused on the ochievement of the Company’s shor-term financial
objectives. Before the start of each year, the Remuneration Committee sets financial performance targets for the year. These are
designed to be stretching and for the bonus for 2006/7 will be based on two measures, profit before inferest and tax and cash
flow, The maximurn bonus potential for 2006/7 is 60% of salary for the Chief Executive and 50% of salary for the Finance
Director. Bonus payments are not pensionable.

Performance Share Plan

The Remuneration Committee introduced this Plan with shareholder approval at the AGM in 2002. It came into effect from 1
QOctober 2001, with the aim of mativating Executive Directors and other senior executives to achieve performance superior to the
Company's peers and $o deliver sustainable improvement in sharehalder refurns. This is reflected in the Plar’s performance
condition which compares the total return received by the Company’s shareholders in terms of share price growth and dividends
{tctal sharehoider return or “TSR"} over o periad of time with the total returns received by shareholders in companies within a pre-
determined and appropriate comparator group.

Under the Plan, Executive Directors and a limited number of other senior executives receive conditional share awards {which may
he in the form of nil-cost options) in respect of the Company’s shares. The actual number of shares that each participant receives
depends on the Company’s TSR performance over a three-year period compared fo the TSR performance within o comparator
group comprising the FTSE SmallCap index, excluding investment frusts. Over a three yeor period:

w If the Company’s TSR performance is below the median TSR of the comparator graup, no shares will vest.

u If the Company’s TSR performance is equal to the median TSR of the comparator group, 40% of the shores may vest.

a It the Company’s TSR performance is equal to, or exceeds, the upper guartile TSR of the camparator group 100% of the shares
may vesf.

= If the Company’s TSR performance is between the median and upper quartile TSR of the comparator group, shares may vest on
a pro-rata basis.

The above schedule reflects the Remuneration Committee’s intention to reward only TSR perfiormance which outperforms the
comparator group. In addition, the Committes may reduce the number of shares which will vest or decide that no shares will vest
it it considers that the financiol performance of the Company or the performance of the participant does nof justify vesting.

The maximum value that can be granted under the Plan in any year is 100% of salary. it is the Remuneration Comnmittee's current
intention that, as before, only the Chief Executive should receive the maximurm conditional grant, with the Finance Director
receiving 80% of salary.

As reported last year, the Remuneration Committee determined that the 2002/3 conditional award should not vest.

The Company's TSR performance in respect of the 2003/4 conditional award did not exceed the median performance of the
comparator group, as calculated by New Bridge Street Consultants. The Committee determined in October 2006, therefare, that
the award should not vest.

Shareholding Guidelines

Under shareholding guidelines approved during 2004, Executive Directors and other senior executives participating in the
Performance Share Plan during the year are required to build up and retain a shareholding in the Company. For Executive
Directors the shareholding requirement is equivalent to 1.5 times base salary and for senior executives the shareholding
requirement is equivalent to 1.0 times base salary. The Executive Directors and senior executives are required to retain a portion
of any awards that vest under the Performance Share Plan until their respedtive shareholding guideling is met.

Dilution

The Company reviews the awards of shares made under the various all-employee and executive share plans in terms of their
offect on dilution fimits. In respect of the 5% and 10% fimits recommended by the Association of British Insurers, the relevant
percentages were 1.09% and 4.81% respectively based on the issued share copital at 30 September 2006. It has been the
Company's practice to buy shares in the market through an Employee Share Ownership Trust in order to meet its liahility for
shores owarded under the Performance Share Plan. At 30 September 2004 there were 666,190 shares held in the Employee
Share Ownership Trust which, in the Remuneration Committee’s opinion, are adequate to cover the number of shares considerad
likely to vest in relation fo awards granted under the Pedformance Share Plan to date.

Pension and other benefits

The current Executive Directors (Mr. TK.P Stead and Mr. RC. Slabbert} are both based in the UK and are members of the Senior
Executive Section of the Avon Rubber Refirement and Death Benefits Plan. This provides members with a defined level of benefit
on refirement depending on length of service and earnings. Members can receive a pension of up fo two-thirds of pensionable
salory on refirement from age 69, provided the minimum service reguirement of 20 years has been met. On death in service, a
lump sum of four fimes pensionable salary is paid, olong with @ spouses’ pension of one half of the member’s prospective
pension. When an Executive Director dies abter refirement, o spouse’s pension of one half of the member's pension is paid.
Directors’ basic salaries are the only pensionable element of their remuneration packages. The Executive Directors, like all
members, are required to make cantributions to the scheme ot o rote of 7.5% of salary.

In line with Company policy for new employees in the UK, any UK-based Executive Directors joining the Company with effect from
1 February 2003 will be offered defined contribution arrangements.
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The Company has reviewed the pension arrangements it provides to UK-based Executive Directors as a result of the UK legislation
introduced in April 2006 affecting the taxation of pensions, in particular removing the eamings cap and introducing a fifetime
allowance. As a result of the removal of the eamnings cap, a pension supplement in respect of salary above the cap is no longer
required for Mr T. K. P Stead.

Executive Directors are entitled to participate in employee healthcare plans and to receive a car allowance and refated expenses.
Executive Directors are also entitled to participate in the Company’s Inland Revenue approved Sharesave Opfion Scheme, which
is open fo all UK employees with three months continuous service and to which no performance conditions are attached.

Neither of the Executive Directors is currently appointed as a non-executive director of any limited company outside the Group.
The Remuneration Committee will establish a policy on the treatment of any fees received by Executive Directors in respect of such
non-executive roles when required.

Contracts

The Campany’s palicy is that Executive Directors should normally be employed on a contract which may be terminated either by
the Company or the Exscutive Director giving 12 manths nofice and which otherwise expires on refirement, currently at age 60.
The Company mey terminate the contract early without cause by making a payment in lieu of notice by monthly installments of
salary and benefits to @ maximum of 12 months, with reductions for any amounts received from providing services to athers
during this pericd.

The Remuneration Committee may vary these terms if the particular circumstances surrounding the appointment of a new
Executive Director demand it. The Remuneration Commiittee strongly endorses the obligafion on an Executive Director to mitigate
ony loss on early termination and will seek to reduce the amount payable on fermination where it is appropriate to do so. The
Committee will also take care to ensure that, while meeting its contractual obligations, poor performance is not rewarded.

The Executive Directors’ contracts contain early termination provisions consistent with the policy outlined above.

The table below summarises key details in respect of each Executive Director’s contract.

Years Company Execufive

Conlract  to expected naofice notice

date refirement period pericd

TK.P Stead 4 Jyly 2005 3 12 months 12 months
PC. Slobbert 4 July 2005 164 12 months 12 months

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors receive a fixed fee in cash for their services. Fee levels gre determined by the Board in
light of market research and advice provided by Hanson Green, which alsc provides services in connection with the proposed
recruitment of new Non-Executive Directors. Fee levels are reviewed from fime to time. The Chairman and the Non-Executive
Directors do nat parficipate in any Board discussions or vote on their own remuneration, nor do they participate in any incentive
or benefit plans.

The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors each have a letter of appointment which specifies an initial period of
oppointment. The initial period for Mr. Duckworth is 5 years. The initial period for Mrs. Pirie is 3 years and Mr. Bonner’s current
period of appointment is also tor a period of three years. Sir Richard Needham's appointment is for an initial period of three years
subject to annual review. Chairman and Non-Executive Director appointments are subject to Board approvol ond election by
sharehaolders at the annual general meeting following appointment and, thereatter, re-election by rotation every three years. The
Chairman and any Non-Executive Direcfor who has served for more than 9 years since fiest election are subject fo annual re-
election by shareholders. There are no pravisions tor compensation payments on early termination in the Chairman’s ond the
Non-Executive Directors’ latters of appointment. The date of each appointment is set out belaw, together with the date of their last
re-glection.

Date of inifial Date of last

appointment re-alection

1.C. Bonner CBE (Appointed Chairman 8 Feb 2001} 5 September 1974 19 January 2006
Sir Richard Needham™* Eective 26 January 2007 -
G.TE. Priestley® 1 February 1998 22 lanuary 2004
B. Duckworth OBE 14 May 2002 20 Jonuary 2005
S.4. Pirie OBE 1 March 2005 19 January 2004

* Mr. G.TE. Priestley resigned as a Director with effect from the end of the annual general meeting on 19 January 2006.

s+ Sir Richard Needham's appointment was announced to shareholders on 14 December 2006.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS
Beneficial interests of Directors, their families and trusts in ordinary shares of the Company were:

At the end At the beginning

of the year of the year

1.C. Bonner CBE 12,500 7,500
B. Duckworth OBE 6,000 4,000
S.J. Pirie OBE 5,000 5,000
G.T.E. Priestley* N/A 12,000
PC. Slabbert 22,833 22,082
TK.P Stead 59,608 58,857

* Mr. G.T.E. Priestley resigned as a Director on 19 January 2006.

Additionally, the Company has operated a Quulifying Employee Share Ownership Trust {*Quest”) which was used to deliver shares fo
employees exercising their opfions under the Sharesave Option Scheme. By virtue of their participation, or potential participation, in
+hat Scheme, Mr. PC. Slabbert and Mr. TK.P Stead had an interest in the shares held by the Quest at 30 September 2006. Af that
date 396 shares were held in the Quest (2005: 55,712 shares).

The register of Directors’ interests contains details of Directors’ shareholdings and share options.

Except for the purchase by Mr. B. Duckworth of 25,000 shares on 14 December 2006 at the price of 154 pence, there were no
movements in Directors’ shareholdings befween the end of the financial year and 19 December 2006.

Additional information

As previously anticipated in the shareholder circular issued in connection with the Extraordinary General Meeting of 13 June 2006,
Mr. L_J. Richards, a former Executive Director of the Company, and other members of the Avon Automotive management team
received a payment from the Company on successful completion of the disposal of Avon Automotive. In the case of Mr. L_J. Richards,
this payment was £311,458. Under the terms of these paymentfs, Mr. L.1. Richards and any other member of the Avon Automotive
management team who had been granted conditional awards under the Performance Share Plan, relinguished alf rights fo those
awards. The terms of the transaction with M. L.J. Richards were contirmed to the UK Listing Autharity by ING Corporate Finance as
being fair and recsonable so far as the shareholders were concerned.

In gddition, the two executive directors were paid one-off bonuses as o reword for the successful disposal of Avon Automotive. Me.
TK.P Stead was awarded £30,000 and Me. PC. Slabbert was awarded £20,000, in each case before tax. The Remuneration
Committee approved these payments and considered them appropriate given the importance of the transaction in the successful
development of the Group's strategy.
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PART 2. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION (AUDITABLE INFORMATION]

The following information hos been audited by the Company's auditors PricewaterhouseCaopers LLE as required by Schedule 7A to
the Companies Act 1985.

Directors’ emoluments

Basic Compensation
salary Other for loss of Total Tetal
R fees  benefits* Bonus ** office 2006 2005
£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000
Directors holding office
throughout 2005 and 2006
T.C. Bonner CBE {Choirman} 60 - - - 60 58
B. Duckworth OBE {Non-Executive) 34 - - 34 29
T.K.P Stead (highest paid Director) 207 48 95 - 350 208
Total 2006 I} 48 95 - 444 -
Total 2005 247 48 - - 295
Appointmenis & resignations
N.A.P Carson (Non-Executive} lresigned 20.1.05) - - - - - 8
5.J. Piria OBE (Non-Executive) {appointed 1.3.05) 34 - 34 17
G.T.E. Priestley (Deputy Chairman} {resigned 19.1.06) 12 - - - 12 39
L.J. Richards (resigned 20.7.05) - - - - - 121
RC. Slabbert {appointed 1.7.05) 124 19 52 195 34
S.J. Stane (resigned 31.8.05) - ~ - - - 350%**
S.J. Willcox {resigned 30.9.05} - - - - - 432>
Total 2006 471 67 147 - 685 -
Total 2005 823 105 4 364 - 1,296

* Otther benefits are described in Part 1 on pages 15 and 16.

** These amounts include the one-off bonuses awarded to Mr. TK.P Stead (£30,000) and Mr. PC. Slabbert {£20,000) as a reward
for the successhul disposal of Aven Automative. These payments are explained on page 17. The additional bonus reflects the
achievement of cashilow targets which are explained on page 15.

No Director waived emaoluments in respect of the year ended 30 September 2006 (2005: Nil].

*+= These amounts include compensation payments for loss of office of £194,000 for Mr. S. J. Stane and £170,000 for

Mr. S. 1. Wilicox which were paid during the year ended 30 September 2005, as reported last year.

Executive Directors’ pensions

The Stock Exchange Listing Rules require the disclosure of certain additional information relating to the pensions of Executive
Directors under defined benefit schemes. This information is set out below.

TK.P Steod PC. Slabbert

Accrued enfitliement as at 30 September 2006 £30,598p.a. £24,175p.a.
Increase in accrued entitlernent over the period £6,0%4pa.  £8,712pa.
Contributions paid by each Director over the period £12,079 £9,600
Transfer value at 30 September 2005 £382,498 £124,803
Transter value at 30 September 2006 or date of retiremert if earlier £541,739 £227,850
Increase in the franster value over the year {net of Director’s contributions) £147,162 £93,447
Increse in acerued entilement over the period {excluding infiation of 3.1%) £5,432pa.  £8,2%94p.a.
Transfer value of increase in accrued pension (net of Director’s confributions} £84,096 £68,575

All fransfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuarial advice in accordance with Actuarial Guidance Note GN1 1.

The transfer values of the accrued entitlement represent the value of asssts that the pension scheme would need to transter Yo
another pension provider on transterring the scheme’s liability in respect of the directors’ pension benefits. They do not represent
sums payable to individual directors and, theretore, connot be added meaningfully to annual remuyneration.

The accrued entitlement shown is the amount that would be paid each year at normal retirement age, based on service to the end of
the current year. The accrued lump sum, under the defined benefit scheme, for the highest paid director ot 30 September 2006 was
£138,438 (2005: £55,134).




Performance Share Plan 2002 [“the 2002 Scheme”)
For grants of options or conditional awards made to date pursuant to the 2002 Scheme, the performance condifion has been based

on the Company's TSR relative to the TSR of a comparator group, comprising the FTSE SmallCap companies (excluding investment
trusts).

A list of the number of shares under option granted at nil cost, to Executive Directors and senior employees , prior fo 30 September
2006 and following approval of the 2002 Scheme by sharsholders, is set out below:-

Granted ™ Granted ** Granted Granfed

2002/3 2003/4 2004/5 200516
ffor the {for the {for the fior the Total option
qualitying qualifying quatifying qualifying awards
period ending peried ending pericd ending period ending lapsed  woutstanding at
30 Sept 2005) 30 Sep 2006} 30 Sept 2007) 30 Sept 2008) in year 30 Sep 2006
PC. Slubbert 33,553 24,828 29,295 55,652 {33,553 109,775
TK.P Stead 67,368 50,759 59,948 115,942 {67,368) 226,649
Former Directors™* - 218,750 158,823 185,107 - (218,750} 343,930
Other senior employees 175,900 150,779 186,268 196,755 (413,443} 296,259

= As explained in last year’s report the awards granted under the 2002/3 cycle did not vest during the year.

“* The Remuneration Committee agreed on 18 October 2006 that the 2003/4 awards did not vest as the Company’s TSR
performance did not excesd the medion performance of the comparator group.

«#+ This rew includes awords granted to Mr. 5.). Willcox {retired 30 September 2005) and Mr. 5.). Stone {retired 31 August 2005).
All their awards will be pro-rated and may vest at the end of the relevant qualifying periods, subject to satisfoction of the applicable
megsures.

++=+ This figure includes all outstanding conditional awards in respect of 237,543 shares gronfed to Mr. L.J. Richards and any other
member of the Avon Automative management feam who had been granted awards under the Periormance Share Plan, which lapsed
during the year as explained on page 17.

wex This figure incudes 188,759 in respect of key management as defined in note 9 fo the financial statements.

The market price at the award date for the 2005/6 award was 172.5 pence, tor the 2004/5 award was 192.0 pence, for the
2003/4 award was 217.5 pence, for the 2002/3 award was 154.5 pence.

Sharesave option schemes

Exercisable

Number of Gronted Exercised Lapsed Number of during

options during during during options Exercise 6 months

at 30 Sep 05 the year the year the yeor at 30 Sep 06 price (£} commencing

PC. Siabbert 751 - {751} - - 1.33 -
TK.P Steod 751 - {751) - - 1.33 -
4,913 - - - 4913 1.72 July 2008

As at 30 September 2006, other employees held options over 585,450 ordinary shares, exercisable between 2006 and 2012, at
option prices ranging from £1.00 to £4.52.

All opfions are over ordinary shares of £1 each,
The market price when Mr. TK.P. Steod and Mr. C. Slabbert exercised their aptians was £1.91.

As at 30 September 2006, the market price of Avon Rubber p.l.c. shares was £1.795 (2005: £2.1 4). During the year the highest
and lowest market prices were £2.14 and £1.585 respectively.

The Remuneration Report has been approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

PO

S

Brian Duckworth
Chairman of the Remunergtion Commitiee
19 December 2006.
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Statement of Directors” Responsibilities
for the year ended 30 September 2006

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statemnents for each financial year which give a true and foir
view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Greup and
of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

a select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

a make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent;

u state that the Group Financiol Statements comply with
Infernational Financial Reporting Standards, and that the
Company Financial Statements comply with UK GAAP;

m prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis,
untess it is inappropriate fo presume that the Group will
continue in business.

The Directors canfirm that they have complied with the obove
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are respensible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy, ot any time,
the financial position of the Company and the Group and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and defection of

fraud and ather irregularities.
in 7 -

By order of the Board

PJ. Fairbairn, Secretary
Melksham, Wiltshire
19 December 2006.
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Avon Rubber p.l.c.

Independent Auditors’ Report
for the year ended 30 September 2006

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO

THE MEMBERS OF AVON RUBBER p.l.c.

We have audited the group financial statements of Avon
Rubber p.l.c. for the year ended 30 September 2006 which
comprise the Group Income Statement, the Group Balance
Sheet, the Group Cash Flow Statement, the Group Statement
of Recognised Income and Expense and the related notes.
These financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set aut therein.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial
statements of Avon Rubber p.).c. for the year ended 30
September 2006 and on the information in the Directors’
Remuneration Report that is described as having been qudited.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

AND AUDITORS

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report
and the group financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
{IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the group financial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing {UK and ireland}. This
report, including the opinion, has been prepared tor and only
for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whorn this report is shown or into whaose hands it may come
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. .

We report to you our opinion as fo whether the group financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the group
financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Asticle 4 of the
IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consisfent with
the group financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not
received all the infarmation and explanations we require for
our audit, or if information specified by law regording
directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of
the Combined Code {2003) specified for our review by the
Listing Rutes of the Financial Services Authority, and we report
if it does not. We are not required fo consider whether the
board's statements an internal control cover all risks and
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s
corporate governance procedures or its risk and control
procedures.

Company Number 32965

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whather it is consistent with the audited group
financial staterments. The other information comprises anly the
Directors’ Report, the Chairman’s Statemant, the Operating
and Financial Review and the Corporate Gavernance
Stgtement. We consider the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Qur
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing {UK and Ireland; issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in
the group financial statements. It also includes an assessment
of the significant estimates and judgments made by the
directors in the preparation of the group financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the group financial statements are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adeguacy of the presentation of
information in the group financial statements.

OPINION
in our opinion:

a the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of
the state of the group’s affairs as at 30 September 2006 and
of its loss and cash flows for the year then ended;

u the group financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Adicle 4 of
the [AS Regulation; and

rmation given in the Directors’ Repart is cansistent
roup financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Bristol

19 December 2006
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Avon Rubber p.l.c.

Consalidated Income Statement ~ Gompany Number 32965

for the year ended 30 September 2006

2006 2005
Note £'000 £'000
Continuing operations
Revenue 1 65,042 46,860
Cost of sales {54,541} (35,591)
Gross profit 10,501 11,269
Distribution costs (4,414) {2,613)
Administrative expenses (9,662} {12,728}
Other operating income 1,114 874
Operating lass fram continuing operations 1 {2,461) {3,198}
QOperating loss is analysed as:
Before exceptional items {1,997} (1,909
Excepfional operating items 2 {464) [1,289)
Interest receivable 3 123 193
Interest payable 3 {3,493) {2,670
Other finance income 3 2,151 1,010
Loss before tox 4 {3,680) {4,665}
Taxation 5 (2,045) (1,116)
Loss for the year from continuing operations (5,725} (5,781}
Discontinued operations
{Loss}/profit for the year from discontinued operations 6 {(13,402) 735
Loss for the year (19,127} (5,046}
{Loss)/profit aftributable to minorify interest (209) 115
Loss atfributable to equity shareholders 22 (18,918} {5,161)
(19,127) {5,046}
Loss per share 8
Basic {68.9)p (19.1p
Diluted (68.9)p {19.1}p
Loss per share from continuing operations 8
Basic (20.7)p {21.9p
Diluted (20.1)p (21.9)p
Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 30 September 2006
2006 2005
£000 £'000
Loss for the year {19,127) {5,046)
Actuarial [loss)/gain recognised in retirement benefit schemes (2,075) 3,974
Movement on deferred tax relating fo refirement benefit fiabilities 115 (6,275)
Net exchange differences offset in reserves (809} 606
Net losses not recognised in income statement {2,769} {1,695)
Total recognised expense for the year (21,896) (6,741}
Attributable to:
Equity shorehalders (21,687) {6,856)
Minority interest (209} 115
Total recognised expense for the yeor (21,896) {6,741}

Adoption of 1AS 39 aftributable tor
Equity sharehalders (12)
Minority inferest -

{12)
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Avon Rubber p.l.c.
. Company Number 329
Consolidated Balance Sheet pany 32965
ot 30 September 2006
2006 2005
Note £000 £000
Assets
Non-current assets
tntangible assets 11 17,054 30,296
Property, plant and equipment 12 20,864 71,294
Investments accounted for using equity method 13 - 146
Trade and other receivables 14 - 604
Deferred fox assets 5 1,101 3,208
39,019 105,548
Current assets
Inventories 15 11,257 24,004
Trade and other receivables 14 15,530 51,227
Derivative financial instruments 16 - 24
Cash and cash equivalents 17 6,893 8¢
33,680 84,174
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings 19 8,000 35,884
Trade and other payables 18 18,505 47,270
Current fax liohilitiss 736 1,153
27,241 84,307
Met current assets/{liahilities) 6,439 (133)
Non-current liabilities
Borrrowings 19 - 24,754
Deterred tax lighilities 5 2,293 3,114
Other non-current ligbilities 18 1,071 1,155
Retirement benefit obligations 10 14,598 23,076
Provisions for liabilities and charges 20 3,426 5,615
21,388 57,716
Net assets 24,070 47,699
Shareholders’ eﬁuity
Ordinary shores 21 28,275 28,121
Share premium account 21 34,19 34,070
Revaluation reserve 23 - 1,751
Capital redemption reserve 23 500 500
Translation reserve ' 23 {203) 606
Retained eamings 22 (39,249) {18,114)
Equity shareholders’ funds 24 23,514 44,934
Minority inferests (equity interests) 556 765
Total equity 24,070 47,699

These financial statements were approyed by the board o directors on 19 December 2006 and were signed on its behalt by:

T.C. Bonner CBE .
TK.P Stead .C

D
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Avon Rubber p.l.c.

. 0
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Company Number 32965
for the year ended 30 September 2006
2006 2005

Note £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 25 7,835 8,613
interest received 123 234
Interest paid {3,890) {2,568)
Tax paid (1,679] (2,062
Net cash from operating acfivifies 2,389 4,217
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries (less cash transterred) 51,972 -~
Acquisition of subsidiaries (et of cash acquired) - {11,395)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 12,970 988
Purchase of propery, plont and equipment (8,963) (8,060
Purchase of intangible assets (5,791) (4,774)
Met cash from/{used in} investing octivities 50,188 (23,241}
Cash flows from financing acfivities
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share copital 275 297
Net movements in loans and finance leases {51,264} 20,058
Decrease/{increase) in derivatives 24 2y
Dividends paid fo shareholders {2,332) (2,293)
Net cash {used inj/from financing activities {53,297} 18,050
Effects of exchange rate changes (89) 68
Net decrease in cash ond equivolents {809) (904)
Caosh and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 7,702 8,608
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 26 6,893 7,702

These financial statements were approved by the board of directars on 19 December 2006 and were signed on ifs behall by:
T.C. Bonner CBE /( z)
TK.P Stead .G
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Accounting Poticies and Critical Accounting Judgements

for the year ended 30 September 2006

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial stotements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, and in accordance with applicable
accourting standards in the United Kingdom. A summary ot
the more important Group policies, which have been applied
on a consistent basis is set out below.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements are the first financial statements
following the adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards (HFRS). As the Group has not previously published a
fuli set of financial statements under IFRS the content of these
statements has been expanded to include summarised
reconciliations to those previously reported under UK GAAP for
the the yeor ended 30 September 2005 {note 29).

The financial information has been prepared in accordance
with all International Financial Reporiing Standards and IFRS
inferpretations that had been published by 30 September 2006
and apply to accounting periods beginning on or affer

1 January 2005. The standards used are those endorsed by
the EU together with those standards and interpretations that
have been issued by the JASB (International Accounting
Standards Board} but had not been endorsed by the EU by

30 Sepfember 2006. The 2005 comparative information has,
as permitted by the exemption in IFRS 1, not been prepared in
accordance with IAS 32 “Financial instruments: Disclosure and
presentation” and 145 39 “Financial instruments: Recognifion
ond measurement”.

IFRS 1 EXEMPTIONS

IFRS 1 First-time adogption of International Financial Reporting
Standards sets out the procedures the Group must foliow when
it adopts IFRS for the first time as the basis for preparing the
cansalidated financial statements. The Group is required to
determine its IFRS accounting policies and apply these
retrospectively to defermine its opening balance sheet under
IFRS as at 1 October 2004. The standard allows a number of
exceptions fo this general principle to assist groups in their
transition fo reporting under IFRS.

The Group will take the following exemptions:

Business combinations:

Business combinations prior to 1 October 2004 will not be
restated. This includes the exemption nct to apply, 1AS 21
“The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rafes” 1o
goodwill arising from these business combinations. As a result
goodwill arising from acquisitions that cccurred prior to the
transition date will remain as stated under UK GAAR IFRS 3
“Business Combinafions” will be applied prospectively from

1 October 2004.

Freehold Property - Fair value as deemed cost:

Under the options available within IFRS 1 the Group has
chosen to measure certain of its freehold properties on a fair
value basis and adopt this valuation as deemed cost as at the
dote of transition, 1 October 2004. The valuation was
undertaken by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, Chartered
Surveyors.

Aven Rubber p.l.c.
Company Number 32965

Share-based paymentis:

The Group has applied IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
retrospectively to equity-setfled owords made ofter 7 November
2002 that has not vested af 1 January 2005

Financial instruments:

The Group has chosen to take advantage of the one year
exemption of financial instruments standards - 1A5 32
“Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” and 1AS
29 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.”
As a result the IFRS restated figures for the year to 30
September 2005 continue to account for financial instruments
in accordance with UK GAAP The Group has adopted these
standards prospectively from 30 September 2005. There is
not expected to be a significant impact as a result of adopting
these standards.

Cumulative translafion differences:

1AS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rafes”
requires annual franslation differences arising on the opening
net assets and net profit or loss of each foreign subsidiary to
be treated as o separate component of shareholders’ equity,
and the cumulative net surplus / deficit for each subsidiary
carried forward and added to / subtracted from any goins /
losses on the future disposal of that subsidiory. The Group has
token the option to set these cumulative gains / losses of zero
as at the date of transition to IFRS. Any gains and losses
recognised in the income statement on subsequent disposals
of foreign operations will therefore include only those
translation differences arising after 1 October 2004, the IFRS
transition date.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements incarporate the financial
statements of the Group and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the
power fo govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one halt of the
voting rights.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the fair value of the consideration plus costs
directly atfributable to the acquisition. The excess of the cost
of the acquisition over the Graup's share of the fair value of
the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired is
recorded as goodwill. Intragroup transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on tronsactions between Group companies
are eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
costs cannot be recovered. Where necessary, accounting
policies of subsidiories have been changed to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Judgements corsinued

for the year ended 30 September 2006

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The Group's presentation currency is sterling. The results and

financial position of all subsidiaries and associates that have o

functional currency different from sterling are translated into

sterling as follows:

m assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

» income and expenses are franslated at average rates and
all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a
separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising fram the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of
barrowings and other currency instruments designated as
hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders equity.
When a foreign operation is sold, the cumulative amount of
such exchange difference is recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded at the
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulfing from seftlement of such
transactions and from the franslafion at exchange rates rufing
at the balance sheet date of monetary assets or liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
incorne statement, except when deferred in equity as
gualifying hedges.

REVENUE

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of goods and
services, net of trade discounts and sales related tuxes.
Revenue is recognised when the risks and rewards of the
underlying sale have been transterred to the customer, and
when collectability of the related receivables is reasonably
assured, which is usually where fitle passes or a separately
identifiable phase of o contract or development has been
completed and accepted by the customer.

SEGMENTAL REPORTING

A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are subject fo
risks and returns that are different from those of other business
segments. A geogrophical segment is engaged in providing
products or services within a particular economic environment
that are subject to risks and returns that are different from
those of segments operating in other economic environments.
The Group's primary segment is by business as this is the
dominant source and nature of Avon's risks and returns. The
secondary reporfing format comprises the geographic segment.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Pension obligations and post-retirement benefits.

The Company has both defined benefit and defined
contribution plans.

The defined benefit plan’s liability recognised in the balance
sheet is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at
the balance sheet dote less the fair value of plan assets.

The defined benefit obligation is calculoted annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The present vatue of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by discounting the estimated cash outflows using
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid,
and that have terms to maturity approximating 1o the terms of
the related pension liability. Acuarial gains and (osses arising
from experience adjustments and changes in acfuarial

assumptions ore recognised in full in the periad in which they
occur, outside of the income statement and are presented

in the statement of recognised income and expense. Fast
service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the
changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees
remaining in service for a specified period of fime {the

vesting period). In this case, the past service costs are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The
scheme is now closed to new entrants.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to
publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. Contributions are
expensed as incurred.

The balance sheet includes post retirement abligations in
respect of overseas subsidiaries where different arrangements
are adopted to provide post-refirernent benefits.

Share based compensation

The Company operates an equity settled share bused
compensafion plan and an employee Sharesave Option
Scheme. The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of shares or share options is recognised
as on expense. The total amount 1o be expensed over the
vesting period is determined by reference to the tair value of
the shares or share options granted, excluding the impact

of any non-market vesting conditions (for example profitebility
and sales growth fargets). Fair value is determined by reference
to option pricing models, principally the Black-Scholes Model.

The Company has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 “Share-
based Payment”. In accordance with the transitional provisions,
IFRS 2 has been applied only to grants of eguity instruments
after 7 November 2002 that had not vested as at

1 January 2005.

The infrinsic value of earlier grants remain charged Yo the
income statement, as previously required under UK GAAR

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the fair value of the Company’s share of the identifighle
net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Identifiable net assefs include intangible assets other than
goodwill. Any such intangible assets are amortised aver their
expected future lives unless they are regarded as having an
indefinite life, in which case they are not amortised, but
subjected to annual impairment testing in a similar manner
to goodwill.

Since the transition ta IFRS, goodwill arising from acquisitions
of subsidiories affer 3 October 1998 is included in intangible
assets, is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment
and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill arising from acquisitions of subsidiaries before 3
October 1998, which was set against reserves in the year of
acquisition under UK GAAR has not been reinstated and is not
included in defermining any subsequent profit or loss on
disposal of the related entity.

Goodwill is tested for impairment af least annually or
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be
impaired. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the
income statement. Subsequent reversals of impairment losses
for goodwill are not recognised.




RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

in accordonce with IAS 3B “Infangible Assefs”, expenditure in
respect of the development of new products where the
outcome is assessed as being reasanably certain as regards
viability and technical feasibility, such expenditure is capitalised
and amortised over

the expected useful e of the development. The capitalised
costs are amoriised over the estimated period of sale tor each
product, commencing in the year sales of the product are first
made. Development costs capitalised are tested for impairment
at least annuatly or whenever there is an indication that the
asset may be impaired. Any impairment is recognised
immediately in the income statement. Subsequent reversals of
impairment losses for research and development are not
recognised.

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost or
deemed cost where IFRS 1 exemptions have been applied,
iess accumulated depreciation and any recognised
impairment losses.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is provided on other
assets esimated to write off the depreciable amount of
relevant assets by equal annual insfallments over their
estimated useful lives.

In general, the rates used are: Freehold and long ieasehold
buildings - 2%, Short leasehold praperty - over the period of
the lease, plant, machinery etc. - 6% ta 50%.

Fixed assets held under finance leases are capitalised and
depreciated in accordance with the Company’s depreciation
policy, or over the lease term, if shorter.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset's carrying omount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying omount is greater
than its estimated net reolisable value.

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

For investments in joint ventures, the Group's share of the
aggregate gross assets and liabilifies of the investments is
included in the balance sheet and the Group's share of
the profit or loss of the joint venture is included in the
income statement,

LEASES

{eases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to
ihe income statement on a straight-line basis over the periad
of the lease. Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are passed to the lessee are
classitied as finance lease.

The sale and leaseback of property, where the sale price is at
fair value and substantially all the risks and rewards of
awnership are transferred to the purchaser, is treoted as an
operoting lease. The profit or loss on the transaction is
recognised immediately and leose payments charged to the
income staternent on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

The foliowing IFRS and IFRIC interpretations have been issued
by the IASB and are likely to affect future financial statements.
IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments Disclosures” was issued in August
2005 and is required fo be implemented by the Company
from 1 October 2006. This new standard incorporates the
disclosure requirements of 1AS 32, which it supersedes and
adds further quantitative and qualitative disclosures in relafion
to financial instruments, and is not expected to have a material
effect on the Group's disclosures.

IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an Arrangerent contains a
lease” was issued in December 2004 and is required to be
implemented by the Group from 1 October 2006. The
interpretation requires arrangements, which may have the
nature, but not the legal form, of a lease to be accounted for
in accordance with IAS 17 “Leases”. This interpretation is not
expected o have o material impact on the Group.

There are a number of other recent standards issued by the
IASB which the company has not yet applied. These include:
IAS 1 amendment regarding finoncial instruments and capital
and 1AS 39 amendments for cash flow hedge accounting and
fair value option.

On 30 November 2006, the IASB issued IFRS 8, “Operating
segments”. IFRS 8 will replace IAS 14, “Segment reporting”,
and align segment reporting with the requirements of the
equivalent US standard SFAS 131, “Disclosures about
segments of an enterprise and related information”. IFRS B will
be applied to accounting periods beginning on or aker 1
January 2009. It is not available for early adaption until it is
endorsed by the EU.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO]
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct cosfs and
reloted production overheads {based on normal operating
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable incremental selling expenses.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables are stated of cost after deducting
provisions for doubttul debts.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
highly liquid interest-bearing securities with maturities of three
months or less, and bank overdrafts.
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Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Juagements coinued

for the year ended 30 September 2006

PROQVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when;

» the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event;

s itis probable than an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, for example
where o warranty has been given, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in sefflement is determined by
considering the ciass of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same cluss of abligation

may be small.

Where a leasehold property is vacant, ar sub-iet under terms
such that the rental incame is insuficient to meet all cuigoings,
provision is made for the anticipated future shorttall up to
terminatian of the lease, ar the termination payment, it smaller,

TAXATION
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current
and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using ‘ax rates substantially enacted af the
balance sheet date, and any adjustments to tax payable in
respect of prior years.

Deferred tox is provided in full on temporary differences
between the carrying amount of the ossets and ligbilities in the
fingncial statements, and the tox base af the bolance sheet
date. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deterred tax ossets and liabilities are not discounted.

Deferred tax is calculated using rates expected o apply when
the deferred tax liability is seitled or the deferred fox asset is
realised, determined by the rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred

tax is provided on temporary differences erising on investments
in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset to the extent that
they relate to taxes levied by the same tax autharity and they
are in the same taxable entity, or a group of faxable entities
where the tax losses of one entity are used to offset the faxable
profits of another.

Income tax is charged or credited in the income statement,
expect where it relates to items recognised in equity, in which
case it is dealt with in equity.

INTEREST PAYABLE

Interest is capitalised gross during the period of construction
where it relofes either to the financing of major projects with
long periods of development or to dedicated financing of other
projects. All other interest is charged against income.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a lighility in the Group's
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
opproved by shoreholders, while inferim dividends

are recognised in the period in which the dividends are paid.

SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs diredtly aftributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity
share capital {freasury shares), the consideration paid,
including any directly affributable incremental costs (net of
income $oxes), is deducted from equity attributable to the
Company's equity halders unfil the shares are cancelled,
reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently
sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any
directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the
related income tax effects, is included in equity aftributable to
the Company’s equity holders.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING
ACTIVITIES

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is enfered info and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. The method of recognising any
resulting guin or loss depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of
the item being hedged.

Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income
statement, together with any changes in fair value of the
hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the

hedged risk.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion on changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flaw hedges are
recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to any inettective
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income
staternent in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit
or loss {for instance when the forecast sale that is hedged fokes
place). However, when a forecast transaction that is hedged
results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (for example,
inventory) or o liability, the gains ond losses previously deferred
in equity are transferred from equity reserves and included in
the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is scld, or when a
hedge no longer meets the criteria tor hedge accounting, any
cumulafive gain or loss existing in equity at that fime remains
in equity and is recognised when the torecast transaction is
ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is
immediately transferred to the income stotement.

Net investment hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted
for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or foss on the
hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the
hedge is recognised in equity, the gain or loss relating fo any
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the

income statement.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the
income statement when the foreign operation is disposed of.




Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Certain derivative instruments do not guality for hedge
accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative
instruments thot do not quality for hedge accounting are
recognised in the income statement.

Derivatives embedded in other financial statements or other
host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their
risks and characteristics are not closely related o those of the
host contracts and the host contracts are not carried at their
fair value. Unrealised gains and losses on these embedded
derivatives are recognised in the income statement.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

The Greup's principal accounting policies are set out above.
Management is required to exercise significant judgement and
make use of estimates and assumptions in the application of
these policies.

Areas which management believes require the mast critical
accounting judgements are:

Exceptional items

The Directors consider that items of income or expense which
are material and non-recurring by virtue of their nature and
amount should be disclosed separately if the financial
statements are to fairly present the financial position and
financial performance of the Group. The Directors label these
itemns collectively as “exceptional items”.

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates defined benefit schemes. Actuarial
valugtions of the schemes are caried out as determined by the
trustees at intervals of not more than three years.

The pension cost under IAS 19 is assessed in accordance with
the advice of an independent qualified actuary based on the
latest actuarial voluafion and assumptions determined by the
actuary. The assumptions are based on information supplied to
the actuary by the Company, supplemented by discussions
between the actuary and management, The assumptions are
disclosed in nate 10 of the financial statements.

Provision for doubtful debts

At each balance sheet date, each subsidiary evaluates the
coliectability of trade debtors and records provisions for
doubtful debts based an experience including, for example,
comparisons of the relative age of accounts and consideration
of actual write-off history. The actual level of debt collected
may differ from the estimated levels of recavery, which could
impact on operafing results positively or negatively.

Inventory provisions

At each balance sheet date, each subsidiary evaluates the
recoverability of inventories and records provisions against
these based on an assessment of net redlisable values. The
actua! net redlisable value of inventory may differ from the
estimated realisable values, which could impact on operating
results positively or negafively.

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group records all assets and liabilities acquired in
business acquisitions, including goodwill, ot tair value.
Intangible assets which have an indefinite usetul life, principally
goodwill, ore assessed onnually for impairment.

The Group is engaged in the development of new products
and processes the costs of which are capitalised as intangible
assets or tangible fixed assets i, in the opinion of
management, there is o reasonable expectation of economic
benefits being achieved. The factors considered in making
these judgements include the likelihood of future orders and
the anticipated volumes, margins and duration associated with
these.

Impoirment charges are made if there is significant doubt as to
the sufficiency of future economic benefits to justify the carrying
values of the assets based upen discounted cash flow
projections using an oppropriate risk weighted discount factor.
Rates used were between 10% and 15%.

Provisions

Provisions are made in respect of claims and warranties based
on the judgement of management taking into account the
nature of the claim/warranty, the range of possible outcomes
and the defences open to the company.
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MNotes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 September 2006

1 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Avon Rubber p.i.c,
Company Number 32965

Due to the differing natures of the products and their markets, the Group’s primary reporting segment is by business. The

secondary reporfing format comptises the geographical segments by origin.

Primary reporting format - business segments
Year ended 30 September 2006

Continuing Discontinued Discontinued
Protection &
Engineered Automotive
Praducts Components Total Group
£'000 £000 £'000 £°000
Revenue 65,042 65,042
Segment result
before exceptiona! operating items (1,997) (1,997}
Exceptional operating items [464) {464}
Segment result
after exceptiong! operafing ifems (2,461} (2,461)
Interest receivable 123 123
Interest payable {3,493) (3,493)
Other finance income 2,151 2,15
Loss before tax (3,680) (3,680)
Taxation {2,045) {2,045)
Loss for the year from continuing operations {5,725) (5,725}
Loss for the year from discontinued operations (10,922} (13,402)  (13,402)
Loss for the year (5,725  ({10,922) 13,402) (19,127)
Loss attributable to minority interest {209}
Loss attributable to equity shareholders {18,918)
(19,127}
Segment assefs 72,699 72,699
Segment liabilities 48,629 48,629
Other segment items
Capital expenditure - property, piant and equipment 6,115 2,952 2,959 2,074
- intangible assets 4,987 1,508 1,508 6,495
Depreciafion 1,803 4,763 5,047 6,850
Amortisafion of intangibles 1,132 1,108 1,128 2,260
Year ended 30 September 2005
Revenue 46,860 46,860
Segment rasult
before exceptional operating items (1,909) {1,909
Exceptional operating items (1,289 (1,28%)
Segment result
after exceptional operating items (3,198 {3,198)
Interest receivable 193 193
Interest payable {2,670) (2,670)
Other finance income 1,010 1,010
Loss before tax (4,665) {4,665}
Taxation (1,114 (1,116)
Loss for the year from continuing operations (5,781 (5,781}
Profit/{loss) for the year from discontinued operations 1,579 735 735
{Loss)/profit tor the year (5,781) 1,579 735 {5,046}




i SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 30 September 2005 continued

Continuing Discontinued Discontinued Discontinued
Protection & Protection &
Engineered Automative Engineered
Products Compenents Praducis Totel Groul
£000 £000 £'060 £000 £00
Profit attributable to minority interest 115
{oss affributable to equity shareholders (5,161)
{5.046)
Segment assets 60,762 116,764 3,277 120,041 180,803
Unallocated assets 8,919 - - - 8,919
Total assets 69,681 116,764 3,277 120,041 189,722
Segment fiabilities 39,605 41,185 595 41,780 81,385
Unallocated liabilities 60,638 - - - 60,638
Total liahilities 100,243 41,185 595 41,780 142,023
Other segment items
Capital expenditure - property, plant and equipment 2,716 5,005 31 5,036 7,752
- intangible assets 3,305 2,105 - 2,105 5410
Depreciation 1,948 5,521 192 5,713 7,661
Amortisation of intangibles 454 2,288 24 2,312 2,766
Secondary reporfing format - geographical segments
Yeor ended 30 September 2006
Evrope North America Groy,
£'000 £000 £
Revenue 22,266 42,776 65,042
Segment assets 3,371 41,328 72,699
Capital expenditure - property, plant and equipment 2,728 6,346 9,074
- intangible assets 2,352 4,143 6,495
Year ended 30 September 2005
Europe North America Group
£000 £000 £000
Revenue 23,942 22,918 46,860
Segment assets 121,694 68,028 189,722
Capital expenditure - property, plant and equipment 3,926 3,826 7,752
- intangible assets 3,026 2,384 5,410

2 EXCEPTIONAL OPERATING ITEMS

The exceptional operating items comprise:

2006 2005

£000 £'000

Profit on disposal of fixed assefs 4,415 -
Fixed asset impairment (3,442) -
Other operating charges - confinuing {1,437) (1,289
Exceptional operating items - continuing {464) {1,289)
Other operating charges - discontinued {717) {6,869)

{1,381) (8,158)

The profit on disposal of fixed assets relates to the profit on the sale and leaseback of the focility at Hampton Park West, Melksham,
UK. The fixed asset impairment relates to our UK mixing facility (See note 12). Both these are included in the Protection Engineere
Products confinuing business segment and European secondary segment.

The other operating charges relate fo the restructuring of our UK Protection & Engineered Products continuing operalions
(€1,437,000} and the costs assaciated with the discontinuance of business machine products manufactured in the UK (£917,000).
The other operating charges in 2005 relate to the restructuring of the Group's European Automotive operations including the
factory closure of Calaf, Spain and the reorganisation of the Grougp's central and divisional structures.

In the Consolidated Income Statement, cost of sales includes £3,009,000 of the excepfionol operating items relating to the impairment of
plant and equipmert, The balance of the impairment of £433,000 is included within administrative expenses together with the profit on the
disposal of fixed assets of £4,415,000 and the other operating charges on confinuing business of £1,437,000 disclosed above.

The tax effect of the exceptional items in 2006 is nil. 3




Notes to the Financial Statements certinued
for the yeor ended 30 September 2006

3 INTEREST AND SIMILAR CHARGES

2004 2005

£000 £000

Bank loans and overdrafts {2,907) (1,851}
US dollar private placement {509) (760)
Amortisation of loan issue costs (18) 21)
Other interest charges (59} (38}
Total interest payable {3,493) (2,670)
Interest receivable 123 193
{3,370} (2,477)

Other finance income represents the excess of the expected return on pension plan assets over the interest cost relating to
retirement benefit obligations.

2004 2005
£'000 £'000
interest Cost: UK Scheme (12,345) {12,707)
Expected return on plan assets: UK Scheme 14,943 14,070
Other finance cost: USA Scheme (447) {353)
2,15 1,010
2006 2005
£000 £'000
Operating losses are shown after crediting:
Rent receivable B8 106
Gain on foreign exchange - 47
Profit on disposal of tangible fixed assets 3,832 19
and after charging:
Employee benefits 76,484 80,675
Charge relating to employee share schemes 323 382
Depreciation on tangible fixed assets
owned assets 6,746 7.544
leased ossets 104 117
Amortisation of intangibles 2,260 2,766
Research and development 2,913 4,280
Loss on foreign exchange 327 -
Qperating leases
plant and machinery 618 626
other assets 1,424 1,347
Services provided to the group (including its overseas subsidiaries) by
the group’s auditors
Audit fees in respect of the audit of the accounts of the parent company and consalidation 60 ' 120
Audit fees in respedt of the audit of the accounts of subsidiaries of the company 135 294
195 414
Services in respect of business restructuring 434 -
Cther services relating to taxation 186 327
Services relating to corporate finance transactions - 100
Qther business advisory services 320 193
Total fees 1,135 1,034




20046 2005

£'000 £'000

UK prior year adjustment ta current tax 99 (86}
Cverseas current fax 2,165 671
Owerseas prior year adjustment fo current fox {396 24

Deferred fax - current year {1,703 (269}
Deferred tax - prior year adjustment 1,880 876
2,045 1,116

in addition to the total tax charged to the income statement, o deferred tax credit of £115,000 (2005 charge of £6,275,000) has

been recognised directly in equity during the yeor.

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the standard UK tax rate

apolicable ta losses of the consolidated entities as follows:

2006 2005

£'000 £000
Loss before tax (3,680) {4,665)
Loss before tax at the standard rate of 30% {2005: 30%) (1,104) {1,400)
Permanent differences (270) (253)
Losses for which no deferred tax was recognised 1,578 2,108
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous periads 1,583 814
Differences in overseas tax rates 258 {153)
Tax charge 2,045 1,116
Deferred tox (assets) and liabilities
Deferred tax is calcuioted in full on femporary diffierences under the liability method using applicable local rates.
Movements an the deferred tox account were:

2006 2005

£'000 £000
Asset at the beginning of the year (92} {7,855
Charged to the income statement 177 507
{Credited) to the income stotement on discantinued operations (224) -
{Credited)/charged to the statement of recognised income and expense (115) 6,275
Exchange differences : 70 (6%
Balances arising on acquisitions - 1,050
Balgnces transferred on disposals 1,376 -
Liability/{asset) at the end of the year 1,192 (92)

Deferred assets have been recognised in respect of temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets where it is probable

that these assets will be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities

Actelerated

capital
allowances Orher Total
£°000 £000 £'000
At 30 September 2004 5,237 - 5,237
Charged to the income statemenit {142) - (142)
At 30 September 2005 5,095 - 5095
Charged to the income statement {1,654) (222) (1,876)
Balances transferred on disposals {3,284} 2,080 (1,204)
At 30 September 2006 157 1,858 2,015
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5 TAXATION {continuved)

Deferred tax assets Refirement
benefit
Tox losses obligations Other Total
£°000 £000 £'000 £7000
At 30 September 2004 {4,022) (8,489) (581) (13,092
Charged to the income statement 1,364 (137 (578} 649
Charged fo the statement of recognised income and expense - 6,275 - 6,275
Exchange differences - {69} - (69)
Bolances arising on acquisifions - - 1,050 1,050
At 30 September 2005 2,658) (2,420} (109) (5,187)
Charged to the income statement 1,752 (32) 109 1,829
Charged to the statement of recognised income and expense - (115} - (115)
Exchange differences - 70 - 70
Balances transterred on disposals 206 1,674 - 2,580
At 30 September 2006 - (823) - (823}

Deferred fax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a tegally enforceable right to offset current assefs against current fax

liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset amounts are as follows:

2006 2005
£000 £000
Deferred income fax assets:
Deferred tox vssef to be recovered alter more than 12 months {215) {1,747)
Deferred tax assat 1o be recovered within 12 months (886) (1,467
(1,101) {3,208)
Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months 2,293 3,116
Deterred tax liability to be recovered within 12 months - -
2,293 3116
Net deferred income tax liabilities/{assets) 1,192 (92}
The Group did not recognise deferred fax assefs in respect of the tollowing:
2006 2005
£'000 £°000
Losses (4,158) {3,459)
Accelerated capital allowances {1,550} (385)
Retirement benefit obligotions (3,599} (4,878)
Other {305) (2,321
(9,612} {11,043}

The 2006 unprovided deferred tox asset relates sofefy to the continuing business in the UK. In 2005 a total of £9,094,000
related ta the continuing business in the UK, with the balance relating to European subsidiaries.




6 SALE OF OPERATIONS

The Group’s Automotive components business was sold on 11 August 2006. Zatec was sold on 29 September 2006.

Year ending Year ending
30 Sept 2006 30 Sept 2005
£000 £°000
Revenue 165,714 192,875
Operating profit from discontinued operations 4,042 1,223

Operating profit is analysed as:
Before exceptional items 4,959 8,092
Exceptional operating items (917} {6,869)
Share of post tax profits of joint venture - 78
Taxation on profits from discontinued aperations 582 (566)
Loss on disposal {18,026) -
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations (13,402} 735
The loss on disposal has been calculated as follows: Automotive Zates
£000 £000
Proceeds from sale 58,729 349
Costs associated with sale {4,880) (15)
53,849 334
Taxation on disposal - -
Net proceeds from sale 53,849 334
Net assets disposed of {69,330) {979
(15,481} (645)
Qther provisions {1,900} -
Loss on disposal after tax (17,381) {645)
2006 2005
£'000 £000

Dividends on equity shares:

Final paid: 4.8p per share (2005: 4.8p per share) 1,315 1,268
Interim paid: 3.7p per share {2005: 3.7p per share) 1,014 1,026
2,331 2,294

In addition, the Directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ending 30 September 2006 of 4.8p per
share which will absorb an estimated £1,325,000 of shareholders’ funds. In accordance with IFRS the final dividend is not
recorded as a liability nor reflected in the income statement.

Dividends payable in respect of 666,190 shares (2005: 666,190) held by an Employee Share Ownership Trust (see note 21) and
396 shares (2005: 55,712) shares held by the QUEST {see nofe 21) have been waived.
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8 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the earnings atfributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding those held in the employee share ownership frust. Tie
company has dilutive potential ordinary shares in respect of the Sharesave Option Scheme (see page 19) and the Perfarmance
Share Plan (see page 19). The diluted ioss per share is not materially different to the basic loss per share.

Adijusted {loss)/earnings per share have been calculated in addifion to basic and diluted figures since, in the opinion of the
directors, these provide further information for an understanding of the Group’s pedormance.

Reconciliations of the {loss)/earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below.

2006 2005
£000 £'000

Basic EPS
Loss aftributable to equity shareholders of the Company (18,918} {5,161}
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 27,455 26,964
Basic loss per share {pence) (68.9) {19.1)
EPS from continuing operations
Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company (18,918} {5,167}
{Loss)/profit from discontinued operations afiributable to equity shareholders of the Company {13,402} 735
Loss from continuing operations attributable to equity shareholders of the Company {5,516} (5,896
Weighted average number of ordinory shares in issue {thousands) 27,455 26,964
Basic loss per share (pence) (20.1) {21.9)
EPS from discontinued operations
Loss on sale ot subsidiaries (net of tax} {18,026} -
Pre tax profits from discontinued operation 4,042 1,301
Tax relating to discontinued operations 582 (564)
Loss from discontinued eperations attributable to equity shareholders of the Company {13,402} 735
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (fhousands) 27,455 26,964
Basic (loss)/earnings per share {pence) {(48.8) 2.7

T seweoves
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The total remuneration and associated costs during the year were:

2006 2005
£'000 £°000
Wages and salaries 61,906 67,335
Social security costs 92,612 10,551
Other pension costs 4,966 2,789
76,484 80,675
Detailed disclosures of Directors’ remuneration and share options are given on pages 18 and 19.
The average number of employees (including Executive Directors) during the yeor was: 2006 2005
Mumber Number
By business group
Protection & Engineered Products 870 766
Autamotive Components {discontinued operations) 3,199 3,504
4,069 4,270
At the end of the financial year the total number of employees in the Group was 835 {2005: 4,363)
Key management compensation 2006 2005
£000 £4700
Salaries and other employee benefits 988 1,192
Post employment benefits 83 115
Compensation for loss of office - 364
1,071 1,671

The key management figures given above include the main board directors plus the Group Director of Human Resources and the

Managing Director of the Protection and Respiratory products business.




10 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The provision for pension liabilities can be analysed as tallows:

UK. Other UsA 2006 2005

Evropean Total Totol

£000 £'000 £:000 £000 £'000

Pension deficit 12,247 - 2,351 14,598 23,076
Deferred tax asset - - 823) (823) (2,420Q)
Net pension liability 12,247 - 1,528 13,775 20,656

Full disclosures are provided in respect of UK defined benefit pensions and US post-refirement benefits below.

UK

The Group operates a contributory defined benefits plan to provide pension and death benefits for the employees of Avon Rubber
p.l.c. and its Group undertakings in the UK employed prior to 31 January 2003. The scheme is now closed to new entrants. The
assets of the plan are held in separate trustee odministered funds and are invested by professional invesiment managers. The
trustee is Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited, the directors of which are members of the plan. Four of the directors are appointed
by the Company and two are elected by the members.

Pension costs are assessed on the advice of an independent cansulting actuary using the projected unit method. The funding of
the plan is based on regular actuarial valuations. The mast recent finalised actuarial veluation of the plan was carried out os at

1 Aprit 2003 when the market value of the plan’s assets was £174.0 million. The actuarial value of those assets represented 86%
of the value of the benefits which had accrued to members, after allowing for future increases in salaries.

Employer contributions to the plan were 10.3% of salaries throughout the year.

An updated actuarial valuation for 1AS 19 purposes was carried out by an independent actuary at 30 September 2006 using the
projected unit method.

The main financial assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries fo caleulate the liahilities under IAS 19 are set out below:

30 Sept 2006 30 Sept 2005 30 Sept 2004

% p.a- % p.0. % p.o.
Inflation 2.80 2.65 2.90
Rate of generol long-term increase in salaries 3.30 3.40 3.65
Pension increases post August 2005 2.20 2.00 iN/A
Pension increases April 1997 1o August 2005 2.80 2.65 2.80
Pension increases pre April 1997 2.80 2.65 2.80
Discount rate for scheme liabilifies 5.00 5.00 5.75

Mortality rate
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice, published statistics and experience.
The average life expectancy in years of o pensioner refiring at age 65 on the balance sheet date is as follows:

2006 2005
Male 20.6 18.6
fermale 23.4 21.5

The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner refiring of age 45, 20 years after the balance sheet date, is as follows:

2006 2005
Male 213 19.5
Female 24.0 22.5
The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were:
Long-term rate of Long-term rate of Long-term rate of
return expected Value @1 return expected Value @t relurn expected Value ot
at 30 September 30 September ot 30 September 30 September at 30 September 30 September
2006 2006 2005 2005 2004 2004
% p.a. £000 % p.a. £'000 % p.a. £'Q00
Equities 7.40 178,278 7.40 169,648 8.00 145,408
Property 7.40 1,748 7.40 1,458 8.00 1,770
Government honds 4.40 66,417 4.40 60,182 4.70 52,530
© Other 4.60 3,246 4.60 4,398 3.50 4,140
Average expected long term rate of
return/Total fair value of assets 6.57*% 249,689 6.58* 235,686 7.06* 203,848

* The averall expecied rate of return on scheme assefs is a weighted average of the individuol expected rates of retum on each asset class.

37




38

Notes to the Financial Statements costicued
for the year ended 30 September 2006

10 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS {continued)

Reconciligtion of funded status to batance sheet

Valuve at Valve at Value af

30 September 30 September 30 September

2006 2005 2004

£000 £000 £'000

Fair vaiue of pan assets 249,689 235,686 203,848

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations (261,936) {250,855)  [225,246)

Liability recognised on the balance sheet {12,247) (15,169} {21,398)
Analysis of income statement

Year ending Yeor ending

30 September 30 September

2006 2005

£'000 £'000

Current service cost 1,626 1,776

Past service cost - -

Interest cost 12,345 12,707

Expected return on plan assets (14,943) (14,070}

Curtailment gain (1,338) (220

{Gain)/expenses recognised in income statement {2,310) 193

The curtailment gain in 2006 relates to the disposal of the Automotive business and has been included in discontinued operations
in the income statement.

Changes to the present value of the defined benefit obligation during the year

Year ending Year ending

30 September 30 September

2006 2005

£000 £0600

Opening defined henefit obligation 250,855 225,246

Current service cost . 1,626 1,776

Interest cost 12,345 12,707

Contributions by plan participants 1,009 1,149

Actuarial losses on plan ligbilities™ 8,331 21,713

Net benefits paid out (10,892) (11,516}

Curtailments {1,338) {220)

Closing defined benefit obligation 261,936 250,855

* |ncludes changes to the actuarial assumpfions

Changes to the fair value of scheme assets during the year

Year ending Year ending

30 September 30 September

2006 2005

£7000 £000

Opening fair value of plan assets 235,686 203,848

Expected return on plan assefs 14,943 14,070

Actuarial gains on plon assefs 6,487 26,384

Contributions by the employer 2,456 1,751

Contributions by plan participants 1,009 1,149

Net benefits paid out {10,892) (11,514)

Closing fair value ot scheme plan 249,689 235,686

Actual return on plon ossets Year ending Yeor ending

30 September 30 September

2006 2005

£000 £'000

Expected return on plan assefs 14,943 14,070

Actuarial gain on plan assets 6,487 26,384

Actual return on plan assets 21,430 40,454




10 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS [continued)

Analysis of amounts recognised in statement of recognised income and expense

Year ending Year ending

30 September 30 September

2006 2005

£'000 £000

Total actuarial (losses)/gains (1,844) 4,671

Change in irrecoverable surplus, effect of limit in para 58(b} - -~

Total {losses)/gains in SoRIE (1,844} 4,671

Curnulative amount of gains recognised in SoRIE 2,827 4,671

History of usset values, defined benefit obligation,

surplus/(deficit] in scheme dind experience gains and losses

30 September 30 September 30 September

2004 2005 2004

£'000 £000 £330

Fair value of plan assets 249,689 235,686 203,848

Defined benefit obligation {261,936} (250,855} (225,246}

Deficit in plan (12,247) {15,169} (21,398}

Year ending Year ending Year ending

30 September 30 September 30 September

2006 2005 20304

£000 £7000 £°000

Experience gains/{losses} on plan assets 6,487 26,384 6,198

Experience gains/{losses) on plan liabilities 12,072 (768) {2,507)

In addition, commencing 1 February 2003, a defined contribufion scheme has been infroduced for new

employees within the UK.

The cost to the Group in respect of this scheme for the year ended 30 September 2006 was £1 22,000 (2005: £108,000).

USA post retirement benefits

The Group's USA subsidiaries operate a medical cover scheme under the terms of which retiring employees who have ten years
service and their dependonts are entifled to medical cover from the date of their retirement for a period of three years, or until they

reach the age of 65, whichever is the earlier.

The liabilities of this unfunded benefit scheme were valued by an independent actuary of 1 Ociober 2006, bused an the tollowing

principal assumptions:

2006 2005 2004 2003
Discount rate 5.75% 5.25% 5.75% 6.00%
Healthcare cost trend rate 10% reducing 9.0% reducing 10.0% reducing 11.0% reducing
to 5.5% by 2009 to 5.5% by 2009 fo 5.5% by 2009 to 5.5% by 2009
Analysis of amount charged to operating profit in respect of post retirement benefits
2006 2005
£000 £000
Current service cost 335 269
Past service cost 10 34
Total operating charge 345 303
Movement in provision during the year
2004 2005
£000 £'000
Pravision at the beginning of the year {(6,915] {5,906}
Mavement:
Current service cost {335} {269)
Contributions 181 235
Past service cosf (10} (34)
Other finance costs (447} (353}
Transferred on sale of subsidiaries 5077 -
Actuarial loss (231) {(427)
Exchange difference 329 {161)
Provision at the end of the yaar {2,351} {6,915)
Related deferred tax asset 823 2,420
Net post refirement liability (1,528} (4,495)
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11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Patents and
distribution Development
Goodwill networks expenditure Cther Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000

At 1 Qctober 2004
Cost 10,144 - 10,411 2,769 23,324
Accumulated amartisation and impairment - - (3,734} (1,960} {5,694)
Net book amount 10,144 - 6,677 809 17,630
Year ended 30 September 2005
QOpening book amount 10,144 - 6,677 809 17,630
Exchange differences 173 - 10 - 183
Acquisitions 5,806 3,338 1,022 103 10,269
Additions - - 4,857 553 5,410
Amortisation - (74} (1,999} (693) (2,766)
Impairment - - (430) - {430)
Closing net book amount 16,123 3,264 10,137 772 30,296
At 30 September 2005
Cost 16,123 3,338 16,663 3,322 39,444
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - (74) 6,526) (2,550) {2,150
MNet book amount 16,123 3,264 10,137 772 30,296
Year ended 30 September 2006
QOpening book amount 16,123 3,264 10,137 772 30,296
Exchange differences {395) - (345} - {540)
Additions - - 6,495 - 6,495
Disposals - - {982) 7) {989
Disposal of business (10,027) - (5,706) (215) (15,948)
Amortisation - [265) (1,476) (519) (2,260)
Closing net book amount 5,701 2,999 8,323 N 17,054
At 30 September 2006
Cost 5,701 3,338 8,671 788 18,498
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - (339) (348) (757) (1,444)
Net book ameunt 5,70 2,999 8,323 31 17,054

The goodwill at 30 September 2006 relates to the acquisition of Infernational Safety Intstruments Inc. {I51) in 2005. This has been
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 on a value in use basis, discounting budgeted cash flows for 2007, cash flows
from the Group’s approved 3 year plan for 2008 and 2009, assuming a constant leve} of cash flows thereatter, and using a pre-
tox discount rate of 15%. No impairment charge has resulted from this test.

Patents are amortised over their expected useful lives of between 12 and 16 years.
Distribution agreements are not amortised, as they are not for fixed periods, but written off in full when agreements are terminated.
Development expenditure is amortised over an average duration ot 5 years.

Otther intangible assets are primarily computer software which is amorfised over an average duration of between 3 and 4 years,
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Long Short Plant and
Freeholds leaseholds leaseholds machinery Total
£'000 £000 £000 £000 2000

At 1 October 2004
Cost or valuation 45,882 1,211 72 126,658 173,823
Accumulated depreciation (17,654 (347} (68} 83,144)  {101,213)
Net book amount 28,228 864 4 43,514 72,610
Year ended 30 September 2005
Opening book amount 28,228 864 4 43,514 72,610
Exchange differences 349 2 2 418 791
Acquisitions - - 92 746 838
Additions 408 - 23 7,321 7,752
Disposals {1,701} {598) - {737) (3,036)
Depreciation charge (722) (34) {5) {6,900) (7,661)
Reclassifications 60 - ~ (60} -
Closing net book amoaount 26,642 234 116 44,302 71,294
At 30 September 2005
Cost 44,879 417 190 132,369 177,855
Accumulated depreciation (18,237) (183 {74) (88,067} (106,561}
Net book amount 26,642 234 116 44,302 71,294
Year ended 30 September 2006
Opening book amount 26,642 234 116 44 302 71,294
Exchange differences {133) 4 ) {650} (794)
Additions 407 - - 8,667 2,074
Disposals (7,567} - - {1,665} (9,232)
Impairment (433) - - {3,009) {3,442)
Depreciafion charge {679) (26) {15) {6,130) (6,850
Disposal of businesses (11,222) {204} {1} (27,759} (39,186}
Reclassifications (2,270} - - 2,270 -
Closing net book amount 4,743 - 95 16,026 20,864
At 30 September 2006
Cost 13,746 - 161 38,338 52,245
Accumutated depreciation {9,003} - (66) (22,312} (31,381}
Net book amount 4,743 - 95 16,026 20,864

The impoirment charge arises from o review of the mixing facility after the disposal of the Automative business {a mojor customer).
The property, plant and equipment relating to the mixing facility have been valued at fair value.

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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_ 14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

T

16 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2006

13 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD

2006 2005
£°000 £'000
At the beginning of the year 146 68
Share of profits for the year - 78
Disposal (146} -
At the end of the year - 146

The Graup's share of the results, assets and liabilities of the joint venture for 2005 were as follows:
Country of Assels Ligbilities Reveruss Profit % interest
INcorporation £000 £:000 £000 £000 held

2005

Gold Seal-Avon Polymers PVT India 664 518 405 M 50

The investment was disposed of during 2006 as part of the sale of Automaotive.

2006 2005

£000 £000

Trade receivables 11,289 42,625
Less: provision for impairment of receivables (80) (2,559}
Trade receivables - net 11,209 40,066
Prepayments 727 1,463
Other debtors 2,594 10,302
15,530 51,831

Less non-current portion - {(604)
Current partion 15,530 51,227

All non-current receivables in 2005 were due within five years from the balance sheet date. Management considers the carrying

value of trade and other receivobles appraximates the fair value.

2006 2005

£'000 £'000

Raw materials 5,561 2,865
Work in progress 853 4,536
Finished goods 4,843 9,603
11,257 24,004

The above numbers include provisions for inventory write downs of £381,000 (2005: 1,958,000).

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to £§2,925,000 (2005: £94,334,000)

of which £27,603,00 (2005: £19,804,000) relates to continuing business.

2006 2005

Book volue Fair valve Book value Fair value

£000 £°000 £'000 £000

Forward foreign currency contracts - - 24 24




17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

20046 2005

£'000 £°000

Cash at bark and in hand 1,823 3,902
Current gsset investments 5,070 5,017
6,893 8,219

Cash at bank and in hand balances are denominated in a number of foreign currencies ond earn interest based on national rates.

Investments relate to holdings in sterling and US dollar money and bond funds, the returns on which relate to the performance of
the underlying assets.

2006 2005

£000 £000

Trade payables 7,510 30,460
Other taxation and socidl security 428 3,275
Other creditors 8,233 7,772
Accruals 3,405 6,918
19,576 48,425

Less nen-current portion (1,071) (1,155}
Current portion 18,505 47,270

2006 2005
£000 £000

Current
Bank lcans 8,000 32,260
US doliar private placement - 2,405
Bank overdrafts - 1,217
Finance leases - 2

8,000 35,884

Non current

Bank loans - 19,907
US dollar private placement - - 4,847

- 24,754
Total borrowings 8,000 60,638

The maturity profile of the Group's borrowings at the year end was as follows:

In one year o less, or on demand 8,000 35,884
Between 1 and 2 years - 9,838
Between 2 and 5 years - 14,916

8,000 60,638

The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2006 2005

£000 £900

Sterling 8,000 655
US doltars - 35,714
Euros - 21,254
Other currencies - 3,015

8,000 60,638

18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19 BORROWINGS




Notes fo the Financial Statements continued
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19 BORROWINGS (continucd)

The Group has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilifies:

2006 2005

Floating rate Fixed rate Total Total

£'000 £000 £000 £000

Expiring within one year 2,035 - 2,035 8,078

Expiring between one and two years 6,000 - 6,000 -

Tota! undrawn committed borrowing faciliies 8,035 - 8,035 8,078

Bank loans and overdrafts utilised 8,000 - 8,000 60,631

Uilised in respect of guarantees 642 - 642 1,000

Total Group facilities 16,677 - 16,677 69,709

The effective interest rates ot the balance sheet dates were as follows:

20046 2005

Sierlin& 51er|inli Doliar Bure Other

) % % %

Bank loans 6.5 - 4.7 3.9 2.5

US dollar private placement - - 8.5 - -

Bonk overdrafts - 55 - 3.1 25
The carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s borrowings ere as follows:

2006 2005

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

£000 £'000 £90060 £000

Bank loans and overdrafts under 1 year 8,000 8,000 33,477 33,477

US dollar denominated loan - - 7,270 7,347

Bank loans over 1 year - - 19,907 19,907

Finance leases - - 2 2

8,000 8,000 60,656 60,733

The 2005 book value of the US doliar private placement is shown in the above table gross of unamortised issue costs of £18,000.
For all other financial assels and liabilities the fair value approximates 1o the net carrying value.

‘ 20 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Warranty  Recrganisation Aulormetive

provision provision dispesal Total

£'000 E£'000 £000 £000

Balance at 30 September 2005 1,918 3,697 - 5,615
Charged/(credited) te income statement - 221 1,200 4,111
Payments in year - {4,382} - {4,382)
Transferred on sale of subsidiaries {1,918 - - (1,918}
Balance at 30 September 2006 - 1,526 1,900 3,426

The costs of the reorgonisation have been shown as exceptional items {see nofe 2).

The reorganisation provision and the provision relating to the disposal of Automotive are expected to be {ully utilised during the
next year.

The warranty provision was transferred on the disposal of the Autometive business.
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21 SHARE CAPITAL

2006 2005
Ordinary Share Ordinary Share
shares premium shares premium
Mo of shares £'000 £000 No of shares £000 £000
Authorised
Ordinary shares of £1 each 37,900,000 37,900 — 37,900,000 37,900 -
Called up allotted and fully paid
At the beginning of the year 28,121,218 28,121 34,070 27,823,944 27,824 34,070
Proceeds from shares issued pursuant
to Savings Related Share Option Schemes 154,066 154 121 297,274 297 -
At the end of the year 28,275,284 28,275 34,191 28,121,218 28,121 34,070

Details of outstanding share options and maovements in share options during the year are given in the Remuneration Report on
page 19.

At 30 September 2006, a Qualitying Employee Share Ownership Trust (“QUEST") held 396 (2005: 55,712) ordinary shares in the
company at @ market value of £1.795 per share, ali of which were under option to employees. 666,190 (2005: 666,190)
ordinary shares are also held by a trust in respect of obligations under the 2002 Performance Share Plan. Dividends on all of
these shares have been waived, additionally the QUEST has waived any voting rights.

22 RETAINED EARNINGS

2006 2005

£'000 £000

At the beginning of the year (18,114} {9,202)
Loss for the year {18,918} {5,161}
Dividends paid (2,331) {2,294)
Transfer from revalugtion reserve 1,751 462
Movement in respect of employee share scheme 323 382
Actuarial {loss)/gain recognised in reftirement benefit schemes (2,075) 3,974
Movement on deferred tax relating to retirement benefit liabilities 115 (6,275)
At the end of the year {39,249} (18,114}




24 SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS AND STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS” EQUITY

25 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Notes io the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2006

23 OTHER RESERVES

Capital
Revaluation redemption Translation

reserve reserve reserve Total

£'060 £000 £'000 £000
At 1 October 2004 2,213 500 - 2,713
Transter from revaluation reserve to income statement (462) - - (462)
Unreatised exchange differences on overseas invesiments - - 606 606
At 30 September 2005 1,751 500 606 2,857
Transfer trom revaluation reserve to income statement (1,751} - - {1,751}
Urrealised exchange differences on overseas investments - - (809} {(809)
At 30 September 2006 - 500 (203) 297

2004 2005

£000 £°000

At the beginning of the year 46,934 55,405
Loss for the financiai year attributable to equity shareholders (18,918) (5,161}
Dividends (2,331) (2,294
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in retirement benefit schemes {2,075} 3,974
Movement on deferred tax relating to refirement benefit liabifities 115 {6,275
Net exchange differences offset in reserves (809} 606
New share capital subscribed 275 297
Movement in respect of employee share schemes 323 382
At the end of the year 23,514 46,934

2006 2005
£'000 £'000
Continuing operafions
Loss for the financial year (5,725) {5,781)
Adjustments for:
Tax 2,045 1,116
Depreciation 1,803 1,948
Impairment of fixed ossets 3,442 -
Decraase in pension liobilities (823) (228)
Amortisation and impairment of infangibles 1,132 454
Amortisation of loan issue cast 83 58
Interest income {123} (193)
Interest expense 3,493 2,670
Other finance income (2,151} (1,010
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (4,391) (1%
Movement in respect of employee share scheme 323 382
Increase in stacks {2,907) (1,875)
Increase in debtors (3,965) {1,639
Increase/{decrease} in crediters ond provisions 4,042 (228}
Caosh generated from continuing operations {3,722) {4,345)




25 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS {continued)

2006 2005
£000 £000
Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit for the financial year (13,402} 735
Adjustments for:
Tax (582} 566
Depreciation _ 5,047 5,713
Loss on sale of subsidiaries 18,026 -
Amortisation and impairment of intangibles 1,128 2,312
Profit on sale of fixed ossets 559 {100)
Decrease in stocks 413 1,020
Decrease/{increase) in debtors 9,900 (2,079)
{Decrease)/increase in creditors and provisions {9,532} 4,791
Cash generated from discontinued operations 11,557 12,958
Cash generated from operations 7,835 8,613
Cash fiows relating to the discontinued operations are as follows:
2006 2005
Protection Protection
Automotive Engineered Discontfinued Automotive engineered Discontinyed
Components & Products Total components products Total
Cash flows from operating activities 13,011 (1,454) 11,557 13,243 (127 13,116
Cash flows from investing activities 48,210 {7} 48,203 (6,815) {31) {6,846)
Cash Hlow from fingncing octivities - - - - - -
61,221 {1,461) 59,760 6,428 (158) 6,270

26 ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT

This notfe sets out the calculation of net debt, @ measure considered impertant in exploining our financial position,

Amortisation

As at 1 Qct of loan issue Exchange As at 30 Sept

2005 Cash flow costs movements Disposals 2006

£000 £000 £060 £°000 £'000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 3,902 68 - {25} (2,122) 1,823

Overdrafts 1,217) 1,226 - % - -
Current asset investments

classiied as cash equivalents 5M7 108 (55) - 5,070

Cash and cash equivalents 7,702 1,402 - (89} (2,122 6,893

Debt due after 1 year {24,754) 24,754 - - - -

Debt due within 1 year (34,665) 26,508 (83) - 240 {8,000)

Finance leases {2) 2 - - -

(51,719) 52,666 {83) (89) {1,882} (1,107)
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2006

27 OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

2004 2005
£000 £000
Capital expenditure committed 192 1,477

Capital expenditure committed represents the amount contracted at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been
made in the financial statements.

The commitments of the Group for non-cancellable operating leases are:

2006 2005
Land and Other Land and Other
buildings gssets buildings assets
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000

For leases expiring
Within 1 year 1,581 15 1,646 181
In 2-35 years 4,604 150 3,810 291
Qver 5 years 7,295 - 3,657 -
13,480 165 9113 472

The maijority of leases of land and buildings are subject to rent reviews.

28 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The company operates an equity seftled share based compensation pion and an employee Sharesove Opfion Scheme.
Details of these Schemes, awards granted and opfions oufstanding are set out in the remuneration report.

The charge fo the Income Statement of £325,000 (2005: £382,000) in respect of Executive and SAYE options granted after
7 November 2002 has been calculated using the Black Scholes pricing modsl and the following principal assumptions.

2006 2005

SAYE PSP SAYE PSP

Weighted average foir value 0.52 1.56 0.52 1.60
Key assumptions used:

Weighted average share price {£) 2.00 1.78 2.00 1.80

Range of exercise prices {£) 1.33-1.69 0.0 1.33-1.69 0.0

Volatility (%) 25 25 25 25

Range of risk-free inferest rate (%) 4.13-513 422-454 413-513 422454

Range of expected option term (yrs} 3.0-7.0 3.0 3.0-7.0 3.00

Dividend yield (%) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5




26 RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING PROFIT/|LOSS) & EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS UNDER UK GAAP TO IFRS

2005
Naote £000
Reconciliation of tatal operating loss
As per UK GAAP {1,325}
2005 development costs now capitalised d 643
Amarfisation and impuairment of development costs and other intangibles d (1,244}
Goodwill amertisation a 802
Share options b {1,002
Reduced depreciation on revalued assets < 262
Share of profits of joint venture (1
As per IFRS (1,975}
Reconciliation of equity shareholder funds
As per UK GAAP 55,578
Development costs and other intangibles d 1,625
Goodwill amortisation a 802
2005 dividend proposed not yet paid e 1,315
Revaluation of fixed assets ¢ (11,649)
Deferred tax adjusiment i (737)
As per IFRS 46,934
Reconciliation of equity at 1 October 2004 (Dute of transition to IFRS)
UK GAAP {FRS IFRS IFRS
Reformatted  Reclassifications Adjustments Restated
Note £000 ! £7000 £000
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 10,144 10,144
Intangible assets d 4,451 809 2,226 7,486
Property, plant and equipment c 85,330 (80%) (1,911} 72,610
Investments accounted for using equity method 68 68
Trade and other receivables 617 617
Deferred tax assets t.a 795 8,489 9,284
101,405 8,489 {9,685) 100,209
Current assets
Inventories 23,983 20,983
Trade and other receivables 43,342 43,342
Financial assets - derivative financial instruments k 12 12
Cash and cash equivalents 9,885 7,885
74,210 12 - 74,222
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings 24,641 24,641
Trade and other payables e 45,274 12 (1,268) 44,018
Current tax labilities 2,019 2,019
71,934 12 {1,268 70,678
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 14,931 14,931
Deferred tax ligbilities i 1,500 {71 1,429
Other non-current liabilities 401 401
Retirement benefit obligations tg 19,654 8,489 28,143
Provisions 2,794 2,794
39,280 8,489 {71} 47,698
Net assets 64,401 - (8,346) 56,055
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26 RECONCILATION OF OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) & EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS FUNDS UNDER UK GAAP TO IFRS {continued)

UK GAAP IFRS (FRS IFRS
Reformatted  Reclassifications Adjustments Restated
£000 4 £000 £900
Shareholders equity
Ordinary shares 27,824 27,824
Share premium 34,070 34,070
Revaluaiion reserve 2,213 2,213
Capital redemption reserve 500 500
Profit and loss account (856) (8,346} (9,202)
Equity shareholders funds 63,751 -~ (8,346} 55,405
Minority interests (equity interests) 650 650
Tota) equity 64,401 - {8,346) 56,055
Reconciliation of equity at 30 September 2005
UK GAAP IFRS IFRS IFRS
Reformatted  Reclassifications Adjustments Restated
Note £000 £000 £000 £'000
Assets
Nan-current assets
Goodwill a 18,299 {2,176) 16,123
Intangible assefs d 7,416 772 5,985 14173
Property, plant and equipment c 83,715 772 {11,649) 71,294
Investments accounted for using equity method 146 146
Trade and other receivables 604 604
Deferred tax assets f,a 788 2,420 3,208
110,968 2,420 {7,840) 105,548
Current assets
Inventories 24,004 24,004
Trade and other receivables 51,251 {24) 51,227
Financial assets - derivative financial instruments 24 24
Cash and cash equivalents 8,99 8,919
84,174 - - 84,174
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings 35,884 35,884
Trade and other payables e 48,585 (1,315) 47,270
Current tax liabilities 1,153 1,153
85,622 - {1,315) 84,307
Non-current ligbilities
Borrowings 24,754 24,754
Deferred tox liabilities 997 2,119 3,116
Other non-current liabilities 1,155 1,155
Retirement benefit obligations tg 20,656 2,420 23,076
Provisians 5,615 5,615
53,177 2,420 2,119 57,716
Net assets 56,343 - (8,044} 47,699
Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary shares 28121 28,121
Share premium 34,070 34,070
Revaluafion reserve 1,751 1,751
Capital redemption reserve 500 500
Translation reserve 606 606
Profit and loss account (9,470) (8,644) (18,114)
Equity shareholders’ funds 55,578 - (8,644) 46,934
Minarity interests {equity interests) 765 765
Total equity 56,343 - (8,644) 47,699




a)

<)

d)

k)

Explanation of key IFRS adjustments

Under UK GAAP goodwill on businesses acquired by the Group on or after 3 October 1998 is capitalised and amortised on a
straight line basis over its useful economic fite. Under IFRS, from 1 October 2004 onwards, goodwill will no longer be amortised, but
will instead be subject to annual impairment reviews. All goodwill was tested for impairment at the transition date with no adjustment
necessary on transition from UK GAAP to IFRS. Where goodwill is deductible for tax purposes in the relevant jurisdiction, a temporary
difference arises and consequently a related deferred tax liability has been recognised under IFRS.

Under UK GAAP. Avan Rubber p.l.c. recognises as an expense the infrinsic value at the date of the award, of options granted under
the Performance Share Plan 2002 accrued over the vesting period to the extent that they are projected fo vest. No expense is
recognised for sharesove opfion schemes far which UK GAAP permits an exempfion. Under IFRS the cost of all share-based
payments, based on the fair values of the options or shares at the date of grant and calculated using an appropriate model, is
recognised aver the vesting period of the award. The Group has used the Black-Scholes mode! to value equity instruments. Under
IFRS 2, a deferred tax asset is calculated in respect of future anticipated tox relief under Schedule 23 FA 2003. Due to the deferred
tax posiiion of the group, this deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the IFRS accounts.

Under the opfions availobie under IFRS 1 the company has chasen to measure its United Kingdom freehold praperties on a fair value
basis and adopt this valuation as deemed cost as at the date of transition, 1 October 2004. This valuation was undertaken by DTZ
Debenham Tie Leung Limited. This has also resulted in a lower depreciation charge. The change in valuation has led ta an increase
in the deferred fax asset, both in 2004 and 2005. Due fo the deferred tax position of the group, this increased osset has been
recognised in part in 2004, but the entry reversed in the 2005 profit and loss account so that no further deferred tax asset is
recognised in the 2005 balance sheet.

Under IAS 38 “Infangible Assets”, the company is required fo capitalise the cost of developments which meet certain recognition
eriteria, including the technical feasibility of, and probable future economic benefit arising from, the project. This expenditure is then
amortised over the anticipated future life of the economic benefits arising and is subject to ongoing impairment reviews. Whereas
SSAP13 permits an entity either fo recognise development expenditure that meets the conditions for recognition as an asset or to write
it off to the profit and loss account, IAS 38 does nat permit a choice. it the development expenditure meets the recognition criteria it
must be copitalised. As the development costs have historically been reated as a deductible, current year expense for tax purposes in
the relevant jurisdictions, a temporary difference arises and a deferred tox liability is created under IFRS.

Under UK GAAP dividends relating fo an accounting period but declared after the balonce sheet date were recognised as a liabifity
even if the approval of that dividend took place after the balance sheet dote. Under IFRS, proposed dividends do not meet the
definition of a liability until such time as they have been declared, and in the case of the final dividend, approved by shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting.

Under UK GAAP the company had olready odopted FRS 17 “Retirement Benefits”. Under FRS 17, scheme assets are measured using
market values while liobilities are measured using the projected unit method. The operafing and financing costs of defined benefit
pension schemes are recognised in the profit and loss account as operating costs and finance costs respectively. Variations from
expected cosfs arising from the experience of the plans to changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised immediately in the
Staternent of Total Recognised Gains and Losses.

The change to 1AS 19 “Employee Benefits” does not give fise to any significant change in the basis of accounting for pensions, os
Avon Rubber p.l.c. will adopt the option allowed under IAS 19 to take actuarial gains and losses immediately and directly to equity
through the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense. Changes are largely confined to presentation, in that retirement benefit
scheme surpluses and deficits must be aggregated separately an the face of the balunce sheet and shown gross, rather than net, of
deferred taxation.

Under IFRS 3, the UK GAAP goodwill arising on the 15 acquisition has been analysed into further intangible assets, namely patents
and distribution network. Under IAS 12, no initial recognition exemption is available in respect of these intangible assets as they arise
as a result of a business combination. Deferred tax is therefore provided on these intangible assets. Goodwill is then adjusted by the
amount of deferred tax so that the total acquisition cost remains unchanged, and there is therefore no impact on the 2005 protit and
loss account.

Under UK GAAP computer software costs were capitalised and included within fangible assets. Under IAS 38 computer software costs
are now classified as intongible assets.

Other than the adjustments to deferred toxation arising from the IFRS adjustments described in paragraphs a — i above, there are no
significant adjustments to either current or deferred tax resulting from the change from UK GAAP fo JAS 12.

It has been the practice of the Group to manage ifs exposures fo movements in currency exchange rates and interest rates by use of
derivative contracts, namely forward currency contracts. Under IFRS such contracts must be recognised as assets and ligbilities an the
balance sheet measured at fair value, which is in contrast to UK GAAP accounting. However, as the Group has decided not to hedge
account for its derivative financial instryments as permitted under IAS 39, they are accounted for through the income statement.
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During 2005 the Group purchased International Safety Instruments Inc. (IS1) from the Donald Dawson Family Limited Partnership,
an entity controlled by Donald W Dawson. Donald W Dawson continues in his current role as managing director
of 151

Summary of related party transactions
Dawson Associates - trading §1,198, 681, ending debtor balance of $125,094.
Lease payments made ta Donald Dawson - $240,236

Donald Dawson is also due to receive £1.2m in September 2007 as deferred consideration on the sale of ISl to Avon in July
2005. He is not bound to the Company following this date.

31 GROUP UNDERTAKINGS AND PARTICIPATING INTERESTS

Group Country in which
interest incorporated

Held by Parent Compony
Avon Polymer Producis Limited UK
Avon Rubber Qverseas Limited UK
Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited UK
Held by Group undertakings
Avon Engineered Fabrications Inc. USA
Avon Hi-Life Inc. USA
Avon Injected Rubber & Plastics Inc. USA
Avon Milk-Rite Inc. USA
Avon Protection Systems Inc. USA
Avon Rubber & Plastics Inc. USA
Avon Vibration Management Systems Limited UK
Avon-Ames Limited 51% UK
International Safety Instruments Inc. USA
Nova Insurance Limited Guernsey
PHT Inc. USA
Undertakings in which the Group has a participating interest
Longbare Inc. 9% USA

Shareholdings ore ordinary shares and, except where shown, undertokings are wholly owned by the group and operote primarily in
their country of incorporation.

All companies have a year ending in September.
Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited, Nova Insurance Limited and Longbore Inc. are, respectively, a pension fund trustee, an insurer and
a pollution remediation contractor. PHT Inc and Avon Rubber & Plastics Inc. are investment holding companies. The activities of all of

the other companies listed above are the manufacture and/or distribution of rubber and other polymer-based products.

A number of non-trading and small Group undertakings have been omitted on the grounds of immateriality.




Parent Company Financial Statements
Independent Auditors” Report
for the year ended 30 September 2006

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO

THE MEMBERS OF AYON RUBBER p.lLc.

We have audited the parent company financial statements of
Avon Rubber plc for the year ended 30 September 2006 which
comprise the Balance Sheet and the related notes. These
parent company financiat statements have been prepared
under the accaunfing policies set out therein. We have also
gudited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
thas is described as having been audited.

\We have reported separately on the Group Financial
Statements of Avon Rubber p.l.c. for the year ended 30
September 2006,

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
The directors’ responsibilifies for preparing the Annual Report,

the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the parent company
financial statements in accordonce with applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards {United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to oudit the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Directors” Remuneration Report
to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Stondards on Auditing {UK ond
freland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared
for and only for the company’s members as a body in
accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and
for no other purpose. We do nat, in giving this opinion,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or fo any
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands
it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent
in writing.

We report to you our apinion as to whether the parent
company financial statements give a true and fair view and
whether the parent company financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985. We alsa report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the
parent company financial statements.

In addition we report fo you i, in our opinion, the company
has not kept proper accounting records, it we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit, or if information specified by law regarding
directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent
company financial statements. The other information comprises
only the Directors’ Report, the unaudited port of the Directors’
Remuneration Report, the Chairman’s Statement and the
Operating and Financial Review. We consider the implications
for our report it we become aware of any apparent
missfatements or material inconsistencies with the parent
company financial statements. Our responsibilities do not
extend to any other information.

Avon Rubber p.l.c.
Company Number 32965

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION

We conducted our qudit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in
the parent company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be cudited. k also includes
an gssessment of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the directors in the preparation of the parent
company financial statements, and of whether the accounting
palicies are approprigte to the company’s circumstances,
consistertly applied and adequotely disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with suficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Divectors’ Remuneration Report
to be avdited.

OPINION

In our opinion:

u the parent company financial statements give a true and tair
view, in accordance with United Kingdorm Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, of the state of the group’s affairs os at 30
September 2006;

u the parent company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act

1985; and

& Trkormation given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
ith the/ parent company financiol statements.

@MMM

ricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Bristo!

19 December 2006
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Avon Rubber p.l.c.

Company Number 32965
Pareni Company Balance Sheet
at 30 September 2006
2006 2005
[restated
see note 12}
Nate £000 £:000 £000 £'000
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 4 5,277 24,973
Investments 5 72,885 72,885
78,162 97,858
Current assets
Debtors - amounts falling due within ane year 7 41,612 58,501
Dehtors - amounts falting dve after more than one year 7 956 -
Cash at bank and in hand 5,616 17,323
48,184 75,824
Creditors - amounts falling due within one yeor 8 19,867 40,553
Net current assets 28,317 35,271
Total assets less current liabilities 106,479 133,129
Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year 9 - 19,907
Provisions for liabilities and charges 10 453 893
453 20,800
Net assets 106,026 112,329
Capital and reserves
Share capitol 11 28,275 28,121
Share premium account 12 34,191 34,070
Merger reserve 12 - 16,439
Capital redemption reserve 12 500 500
Profit and loss account 12 43,060 33,199
Equity shareholders’ funds 106,026 112,329

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 19 December 2006 and were signed on its behalt by:

T.C. Bonner CBE -
TK.P Stead o

=
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Parent Company Accounting Policies
for the year ended 30 September 2006

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The accounts have been prepared on a going concem basis and
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985, as omended and
with all applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom
(UK GAAP) under the historical cost convention modified to
include the revaluation of cerain properties.

As permitred by Section 230(3) of the Companies Act 1985, the
Company's entity profit and lass account and statement of total
recognised gains and losses have not been presented.

The Company is exempt under the terms of FRS1 (Revised 1996
“Cash Flow Statements” from the requirement to publish its own
cash-flow statement, as ifts cash-flows are included within the
consolidated cash-flow statlement of the Group.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company has adopied FRS 20 “Share based Payment”,
FRS 21 “Events after the Balance Sheet Date”, FRS 25 “Financial
instruments Disclosure and Presentation”, FRS 26 “Financial
instrumerds Measurement” and FRS 28 “Comparative Amaounts”
in these financial statements. The adoption of these standards
represents a change in accounting policy and the comparative
figures have been restated accordingly except where the
exemption fo restate comparatives has been taken. Details of the
effects of prior year adjustments are given in note 12.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Foreign currency transackions are recorded at the exchange rate
ruling on the date of transaction. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from
the retranslation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised
in the profit and loss account.

DEFERRED TAXATION

Full provision {on an undiscounfed basis} is made for deferred tax
assefs and liabilifies arising from timing differences between the
recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and
their recognition in the respective fax computations. Deferred tax
assets are recognised only fo the extent that they are more likely
than not o be recovered in the short term.

[MPAIRMENT OF FIXED ASSETS AND GOODWILL
Impairment reviews are underfaken if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the tangible
fixed assefs or goodwill may not be recoverable. If the camying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount (being the higher of the
volue in use ond the net realisable valuej then the fixed asset or
goodwill is written down accordingly. Where recoverable amount
are based on value in use discount rutes

of typically between 10% and 15% are used depending on the
risk attached 1o the underlying assef.

INTEREST PAYABLE

Inferest is capitalised gross during the period ot construction
where it relates sither to the financing of major projedts with long
periods of development or to dedicated financing of other
projects. All other interest is charged against income.

LEASED ASSETS
Operafing lease rentals are charged against profit aver fhe term
of the lease on a straight line basis.

PENSIONS

The Company operates d contributory defined benefits plan to
provide pension and death benefits for the employees of Avan
Rubber p.).c. and its Group undertakings in the UK employed

Avon Rubber p.l.c.
Company Number 32965

prior to 31 January 2003. The scheme is now closed to new
enfrants. Scheme assets are measured using market values while
liabilities are measured using the prajected unit method. The
multi-employer exemption has been taken and no provision has
been reflected in the parent company’s balance sheet for any
deficit arising in respect of pension obligations.

The Company also provide pensions by contributing to defined
contribution schemes. The charge in the profit and loss account
reflects the contributiens paid and payable to these schemes
during the period. Full disclosures of the UK pension schemes
have been provided in the Group Financial Statements.

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Provisions are recaghised when a liability exists at the yeer end
that can be measured reliably, there is an obligation fo one or
more third parties as a resuit of post transactions or events and
there is an obligation to transfer economic benefits in setlement.

Provisions are calculated based on managements best estimate of
the expenditure required to seftle the present obligation at the
balance shest date, after due consideration of the risks and
uncertainties that surround the underlying event, Provision for
reorganisation costs are made where a detailed plan has been
approved and an expectation has been raised in those atfected
by the plan that the Company will canry out the reorganisation.

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Tangible fixed assefs are stated at cost with the exception of
previously revalued tangible fixed assets, which are now held at
their baok value at the dote of implementation of FRS 15
(Tangible Fixed Assefs), as permitted under the transitional rules of
that standard, less amourts provided for depreciation and any
provision for impairment. No depreciation is provided on
freehold land where its value can be separately ascertained. In all
other cases freehold properiies are depreciated on a straight line
method at 2% per annum. Leasehold properties are amortised by
equal annual installments over 50 years or the life of the lease, it
shorter. Plant and machinery are depreciated on the straight line
method at rates varying between 6% and 50% per annum.

RELATED PARTIES

The company has taken advantoge of the dispensation under
ERS 8, Related Party Transactions, not to disclose transactions or
balances with other Group companies.

SHARE BASED PAYMENT

The Company operates o number of equity seftled share-bosed
compensation plans. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of shares or share options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over
the vesting period is determined by reference fo the fair value of
the shares or share options granted, excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting canditions (for example profitability and sales
growth fargets). Fair value is determined by reference to option
pricing madels, principally the black scholes model.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The ASB issued “FRS 21 “Events after the Balance Sheet Date” in
May 2004. This standard replaced SSAP 17 “Accounting for Post
Balance Sheet Events” and the main effect of this change is fo
prokibit the recording of a provision for a proposed dividend
where the dividend is declared after the balance sheet date.

FRS 21 is applicable tor accounting periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2005. Theretore finai dividends are now only
recognised when shareholders have approved such amount and
interim dividends are only recognised when paid.
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Motes to the Parent Company Financial Statements ~ompany Number 32965

for the year ended 30 September 2006
1 PARENT COMPANY

As permitted by $230 of the Companies Act 1985, the parent company’s profit and loss gecount has not been included in these
financial statements. The parent company’s retained loss for the financial year was £6,901,000 (2005: £8,961 000 profit).

2006 2005
£000 £'000

Dividends on equity shares:
Final paid: 4.8p per share (2005: 4.8p per share) 1,315 1,268
interim paid: 3.7p per share (2005: 3.7p per share) 1,016 1,026
2,331 2,294

In addition, the directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ending 30 September 2006 of 4.8p per
share which wili absorb an estimated £3,325,000 of shareholders’ funds. In accordance with IFRS the fina) dividend is not
recorded as a liability nor reflected in the income statement.

Dividends payable in respect of 666,190 shares (2005: 666,190] held by an Employee Share Ownership Trust and 396 shares
(2005: 55,712} shares held by the QUEST have been waived.

The total remuneration and associated costs during the year were:

2006 2005

£'000 £000

Wages and salaries 1,746 2,962
Social security costs 201 482
QOther pension costs 155 435
2,102 3,879

Detaiied disclosures of directors’ remuneration and share options are given on pages 18 and 19 in the Group accounts.
The average number of employees (including executive directors) during the year was: 19 {2005: 59).

4 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Plant and
Freeholds machinery Total
£:000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation:
At 1 October 2005 27,023 2,591 29,614
Transfers to graup companies - {1,203) {1 ,2%3)

Additions af cost - 82
Reclassifications (2,613) 2,613 -
Disposals {14,272} {874) (15,146}
At 30 September 2006 10,138 3,209 13,347
At cost 10,138 3,209 13,347
At valugtion - - -
10,138 3,209 13,347
Depreciation:
At 1 October 2005 2,923 1,718 4,641
Transters to group companies - (958) (958)
Charge for the year 502 173 675
Reclassifications (334) 334 -
On disposals (1,805) (489) 2,294)
impairment toss 6,006 - 6,006
At 30 September 2006 7,292 778 8,070
Net book value at 30 September 2006 2,846 2,43 5,277
Net book value at 30 September 2005 24,100 873 24,973
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Investment in
subsidiaries
£'000
Net book value
At 30 September 2005 and 30 September 2006 72,885

The investments consist of a 100% interest in the following subsidiaries:

Country in which

incarporated
Avon Polymer Products Limited UK
Avaon Rubber Overseas Limited UK
Aven Rubber Pension Trust Limited UK

‘ 6 OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

2006 2005
£000 £°000
Capital expenditure committed 6 6

Capital expenditure committed represents the amount contracted at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been
made in the financial statements.

The annual cammiiments of the Company for nen-cancellable aperating leases are:

2006 2005
Land and Other Land and Other
buildings assets buildings assets
£'000 £°000 £:000 £000

For leases expiring .
Within 1 year - 5 - -
In 2-5 years 51 - 60 5
Over 5 years 905 - 174 -
956 5 234 5

The majority of leases of land and buildings are subject to rent reviews.

7 DEBTORS

2006 2005
£'000 £'000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 23 15
Group undertakings 39,943 57,804
Other debtors 1,331 589
Prepayments 315 93
41,612 58,501

Amounts folling due after more than one year:
Other debtars 956 -

42,568 58,501




Notes o the Parent Company Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2006

8 CREDITORS - AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2006 2005
£000 £'000
Bank loans 8,000 29,331
Trade credifors 1,090 53
Group undertakings 5,403 6,860
Corporation tax 2,778 2,930
Other taxation ond social security 104 220
Orther creditors 2,133 75
Accruals 359 606
19,867 4Q,553
9 CREDITORS — AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR
2006 2005
£'000 £000
Bank oans - 19,907
10 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
Deferred  Restruciuring
ax provision Total
£000 £:000 £000
Balance at 30 September 2005 220 673 893
(Credited)/charged ta profit and loss account {(220) 100 {120
Payments in year - (320) (320}
Baolance at 30 September 2006 - 453 453

The restructuring provision is expected tc be fully utilised during the next year.

11 SHARE CAPITAL
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2006 2005
£000 £'000
Authorised:
37,900,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 37,900 37,900
Called up allotted and fully paid:
28,275,000 ordinary shares of £} each 28,275 28,121

During the year 154,066 ordinary shares were issued for the consideration of £275,590.




12 SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT AND RESERVES

Prefit and
Share Capital  loss account
premium Merger  redemption {restated]
account reserve reserve see below Total
£:000 £°000 £000 £000 £000
At 30 Sepfember 2005 as previously stated 34,070 16,439 500 31,884 82,893
Prior year adjustment - FRS 20 - - - - —
Prior year adjustment - FRS 21 - - - 1,315 1,315
At 30 September 2005 restated 34,070 16,439 500 33,199 84,208
Current year loss - - - 6,901y (6,501}
Transfer on disposal of subsidiaries - (16,439 - 16,439 -
Movement in respect of employee share schemes - - - 323 323
Praceeds from shares issued pursuant fo
Savings Related Share Option Schemes 121 - - - 121
At 30 September 2006 34,191 - 500 43,060 77,75

The prior year adjustments relate to the adoption of FRS 20 “Share based Payments” and FRS 21 “Events after the Balance

Sheet date”

Under FRS 21 dividends should not be recognised as a creditor until the dividend is fully authorised. A prior year adjustment has

been made to the 2005 figures fo reflect this change in accounting policy.
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. Company Number 3
Five Year Record pany 2965
IFRS IFRS UKGAAP UKGAAP UKGAAP
2004

2006 2005 {restated) 2003 2002

£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Revenue 65,042 46,860 239,212 248,507 250,509
Operating {loss)/profit before exceptional items {1,997) {1,909 10,116 10,360 10,442
Exceptional operating charges (464} (1,289 - - [8,474)
Operating loss from continuing operations
and after finance income/charges (2,461) {3,198) 10,116 10,360 1,968
Net inferest (1.219) (1,467) (1,431) 2,925) (3,423)
{Loss)/profit before taxation (3,680) {4,665} 8,685 7,435 (1,455)
Taxation (2,045} {1,116} {1,658) {1,976} (310)
{Lass)/profit for the year from continuing operations {5,725) (5,781) 7,027 5,459 {1,765)
{loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations (13,402) 735 - -
(Loss)/profit for the year (19,127) {5,046) 7,027 5,459 (1,765)
{Loss)/profit aftributable to minority interest (209) 115 389 108 {194)
{Loss)/profit atiributable to equity shareholders (18,918} {5,161) 6,638 5,351 {1,571}
Ordinary dividends (2,331) (2,294) (2,245) (2,131) (2,031)
Retained {loss)/profit {(21,249) (7,455) 4,393 3,220 {3,602}
Fixed assets and investments 37,918 l 101,736 99,993 106,594 107,327
Working capital 5,283 26,373 18,043 15,245 17,702
Provisions {3,426) (5,615) (4,294 (1,957) (6,458)
Pension liability {14,598) (23,076} (19,654} (19,930 -
Net borrowings (1107}  (51.719)  (29.687)  {38,022)  (41,021)
Net assets employed 24,070 47,699 64,401 61,930 77,550
Financed by:
Ordinary share capita) 28,275 2812 27,824 27,824 27,824
Reserves atiributable to Avon shareholders (4,761} 18,813 35,927 32,586 48,259
Minority shareholders’ interests 556 765 650 1,520 1,467
Total equity 24,070 47,699 64,40 61,930 77,550
Basic {loss)/earnings per share (68.9)p (19.% 25.1p 20.0p 5.7p
Dividends per share 8.5p 8.5p 8.5p 8.0p 7.5p




Notice of Annual General Meeting
for the year ended 3G September 2006

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of
shareholders will be held ot Melksham House, Market Place,
Melksham, Wiltshire on 25 January 2007 ot 10.30 o.m. for
the following purposes:-

. To receive a presentation by the Chief Executive on aspects
of the Company’s business.

. To receive and consider the report of the Directors and the
financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2006
(Resolution Ne.1}.

. To declare g dividend on the ordinary shares
(Resolution No. 2}.

. To approve the remuneration report of the Directors {as set
out on pages 14 to 19 of the annual reper] for the year
ended 30 September 2006 (Resolution Neo. 3).

_ To re-elect Mr. B. Duckworth who retires by rotation and,
being eligible, offers himself for re-election {Resolution
No. 4).

. To approve the re-oppointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP as auditors of the Campany, to hold office until the
conclusion of the next general meeting at which accounts are
laid before the Company and that their remuneration be
fixed by the Direciors (Resolution No. 5).

. To transact any other routine business.

. As special business to consider and if thought fit pass the
foliowing resolution which will be proposed as an Ordinary
Resolution (Resolution No. 8}

“That the authority conferred on the directors by Article 9.2
of the Company's Articles of Association be renewed for the
period ending on the date of the annual general meeting in
2008 or on 24 April 2008, whichever is the earliar, and, tor
such period the section 80 amount shall be £9,431,5937

. As special business to consider and it thought fit pass the
following resolution which will be proposed as o Special
Resolution {Resolution No. 7}:

“That the power conferred on the directors by Arficle 9.3
of the Company’s Aricles of Association be renewed for the
period ending on the date of the annual general meefing in
2008 or on 24 April 2008, whichever is the eartier, and for
such period the section 89 amount shall be £1,414,739”

10. As special business to consider and if thaught fit pass the

following resolution which will be proposed as a Special
Resolution {Resolution No. 8):

Avon Rubber p.l.c.
Company Number 32965

“That the Company be and is hereby uncondifionally and
generally authorised for the purpose of section 166 of the
Company’s Act 1985 to make market purchases {as defined
in section 163 of the Ad) of ordinary shares of £1 euch in
the capital of the Company provided that:

(a} the maximum number of shares which may be purchased
is 4,241,388;

{b) the minimum price which may be paid for each
share is 1p;

{c) the maximum price which may be paid tor a share is an
amount equal to 105% {one hundred and five percenf}
of the average of the middle market quotations ot the
Company’s ordinary shares as derived from the London
Stock Exchange London official list for the 5 (five}
business days immediately preceding the day on which
such share is contracted to be purchosed; and

{d} this authority shall expire ot the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company held in 2008 or,

i earlier, on 24 July 2008 (except in relation to the
purchase of shares the contract for which was concluded
before the expiry of such autharity and which might be
executed wholly or partly after such expiry} unless such
authority is renewed prior to such time”.

A member entitied ta attend and vote is entitled to appoint a
proxy (or proxies) fo attend and, on a poll, vote instead of
him.

A proxy need not be o member of the Company.

] R

A form of proxy is endlesed. The appointment of a proxy will not prevent a
shareholder from subsequently attending and vofing of the meeting in person.

By order of the Board
Pl Fairbairn, Secretary
Melksham, Wiltshire
19 December 2006

To be effective, the instrument appointing o proxy, and any power of attorney
or other authority under which it is executed [or a duly certified copy of any
such power of quthority) must be deposited at the Company's registrar, Capita
Registrars, Northem House, Woodseme Park, Fenay Bridge, Hudderstield HD8
OLA, not less thon 48 hours before the time fer holding the meefing or
adioumed meeting or (in the case of a poll taken otherwise than at or on the
same day as the meeting), for the taking of the poll at which it is to be used.

Documents for inspection

The follawing documents will be available for inspection from the date of this
natice of annual general meeting until the close of the annual general
meeting, at the registered affice of the Company and at the place of the
annuol general meeting from at least 15 minutes prior to the meeting until the
close of the meeting:-

il the Register of Directors’ interest showing any fransactiens of Directors
and their family interests in the share capital of the Company; and

{ii} copies of all Controcts of Servize under which the Directors of the
Company are employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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Explanation of Resolution Nos. 6 and 7.

Article 9 of the Anticles of Assaciation of the Company both
authorises your board to ailot shares and disapplies
shareholders’ pre-emption rights, on an annual renewable basis.
Sharehalders may recal that his outhority hus previously been
given for the maximum amounts permitted by the Investment
Comemitiees of the Association of British insurers and fhe
Nationa! Associafion of Pension Funds {"the Investment
Committees”).

The authorities referred 1o above were renewed at the annual
general meeting in 2006 and will, unless again renewed by the
shareholders, expire at the end of the farthcoming annual
general meeting. The authorisation for the allotment of shares
and for the disapplication of pre-emption rights can be renewed
by way of a relatively simple ordinary resclution and special
resolution respectively. It is therefore proposed as Resoiution
No. 6 to renew the authority of the Directors to allot shares up
to an aggregate nominal amount of £9,431,593 {“the section
80 amount”), being an amount equal to one third of the exisfing
issued ordinary share capital, so that the Directors are
empowered pursuant to and within that authority ta issue shares
(including in connection with a rights issue). It is additionally
proposed as Resolution No. 7 to provide that the authority to
issue shares for cash to persons other than existing shareholders
{and not by way of a rights issue) will be limited to issues
representing no more than £1,414,739 {“the section 89
amount”] being 5% of the issued ordinary share capital as
shown in the latest audited financial statements.

The proposed new section 80 omount and the proposed new
section 89 amount have been adjusted to reflect the increase in
the issued share capital which has taken place during the yeor
as a result of employees and directors exercising their rights
under the Avon Rubber p.l.c. Sharesave Opfion Scheme 2002.
In connechion with the section 80 amount the Investment
Committees require that the amount should be the lesser ot

the authorised but unissued share capital and an amount equal
to ane third of the existing issued ordinary share capital; this
year one third of the existing issued ordinary share capital is the
lesser amount and the section 80 amount has been calculated
accordingly.

The guthorities sought in Resolution Nes. 6 and 7 comply with
the guidelines of the Invesiment Committees and will, unless
subsequently renewed by shareholders, expire af the end of the
annual general meeting to be held in 2008 or on 24 April 2008
i eqrlier.

No issue of shares {apart from issues in respect of the exercise of
opfions granted or to be granted fo employees or Directors
under option schemes approved by shareholders, including the
Avon Rubber p.l.c. Sharesave Option Scheme 1992, the Avon
Rubber p.l.c. Executive Share Option Scheme 1986, The Avon
Rubber Sharesave Option Scheme 2002 and the Avon Rubber
p.l.c. Performance Share Plan 2002), is currently contemplated
and nane will be made which will effectively alter the control of
the Company without the prior approval of the Company in
general meeting.
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Explanation of Resolution No. 8.

it is proposed, by way of Resolution No. 8, to renew the
Company’s power to buy back its own shares. Although the
Company’s Articles of Association give the Company the
relevant power, the Company is only permitted to buy back its
shares pursuant to that power if it is additionally authorised to do
so by a relevant resolution of the Company.

Resolution No. 8 would grant the Company authority fo make
purchases on the Londan Stock Exchange of up to 4,241,388
ordinary shares of £1 each of the Company, subject to the
limitations on the minimum and maximum prices set out in the
Resolution, for o period up to the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company held in 2008 or, if earlier, 24
July 2008. The moximum number of ordinary shares for which
authority to purchase is being sought represents nearly 15%
(fitteen percent) of the Company’s issued ordinary share capitat.

As of 8 December 2006 there were options fo subscribe
outstanding over 846,111 ordinary shares, representing 2.9% of
the Company’s ordinary issued share capital. If the authority
given by Resolution No. 8 were to be fully exercised, these
opfions would represent 3.5% of the Company’s ordinary issued
share capital. As of 8 December 2006 there were no warrarts
outstanding over ordirary shares.

The Directors intend to exercise the power given by Resolution
No. 8 only when, in the light of market conditions prevailing at
the time, they believe that the effect of such purchases will be to
increase the underlying value per share having regard to the
intent of the guidelines of institutional investors ond that such
purchases are in the best interests of shareholders generally.
Other investment opportunities, appropriate gearing levels and
the overall position of the Company will be taken into account
before deciding upon this course of action. Any shares
purchased in this way will be cancelled and the number of
shares in issue will be reduced accardingly.

Bonus and incentive scheme targets for Executive Directors
would not be alfected by any enhancement of earmings per
share following o share re-purchase.

In the opinion of the Directors, Resolution No. 8 is in the best
interests of the sharehoiders as a whole ond the Directors
intend to seek renewa of these powers at subsequent annual
general meetings.




